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purpose
The Epilepsy Foundation 

is dedicated to 

enhancing the quality 

of life of people living 

with epilepsy through 

information, education, 

advocacy, support 

services and research.

Our
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Equity and access: Ensuring that people living 
with epilepsy get a fair go and can connect to 
appropriate supports and services.

Participation and inclusion: Engaging people 
and building effective relationships based on a 
shared purpose.

Resourcefulness and innovation: Seeking 
better ways to do more with the resources 
available to us.

Trust and integrity: Displaying integrity in 
everything that we do thus enabling the people 
who rely on us to have confidence in our motives 
and abilities. 

Accountability: Fulfilling our responsibilities and 
obligations.

www.epinet.org
epilepsy helpline: 1300 852 853

© Epilepsy Foundation 2014

Epilepsy Foundation 
587 Canterbury Road 
Surrey Hills Victoria 3127 
t: (03) 8809 0600 
f: (03) 9836 2124 
www.epinet.org.au

    

The Epilepsy Foundation would like to thank the clients who have willingly 
and openly told their stories throughout these pages. 

Our values
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“Dedicated to enhancing the  
quality of life of people living with 

epilepsy through information, 
education, advocacy, support 

services and research”
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We aim to achieve our aspirations by working 

collaboratively with governments at all levels and  

other health and community-based organisations, 

to identify existing programs to which we can add 

value, or potential joint programs, and to ensure the 

appropriate and optimum use of our resources.
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Our aspirations

We aim to achieve our aspirations by working collaboratively with 
governments at all levels and other health and community-based 
organisations, to identify existing programs to which we can add 
value, or potential joint programs, and to ensure the appropriate 
and optimum use of our resources.

Children, Young People and Adults 
with Epilepsy

• Increased self-esteem and 
confidence about living well with 
epilepsy

• Ability to connect with other people 
living with epilepsy

• Equitable educational and 
occupational opportunities 

• Increased opportunities to 
participate in community life

• Individualised knowledge and skills 
to enhance their own wellbeing 

• Access to support services 

• Support at key transition points

• Value and use the Foundation as the 
best source of epilepsy knowledge 
and education

• Live in a community free from 
stigma about epilepsy

Families and Support Networks of 
People with Epilepsy

• Confident and knowledgeable

• Significant relationships are healthy 
in regard to epilepsy 

• Access to opportunities for support 
and networking

• Access to relevant services

• Support at key transition points

• Value and use the Foundation as the 
source of epilepsy knowledge and 
education

Other Service Providers
• Understand epilepsy and its impact 

on individuals and their families

• Equitable access to their services  
for people living with epilepsy

• Value and use the Foundation as  
the source of epilepsy knowledge 
and education

• Implement best epilepsy practice 

The Community
• Is inclusive of people with epilepsy

• Provides increased opportunities for 
participation 

• Responds to the needs and 
aspirations of people living with 
epilepsy 

• Understands epilepsy and affirms 
people living with epilepsy as valued 
members

• Supports the funding needs of the 
Foundation

• Actively participates in epilepsy 
related events

Epilepsy Foundation
• Is driven by the needs of people 

living with epilepsy

• Is recognised as the premier 
community based epilepsy 
organisation in Australia

• Is sustainable

• Grows in knowledge and capacity 
and continually strives for best 
practice

• Has the right people and sufficient 
resources

In the Epilepsy Service Sector, we
• Share knowledge, experience, 

resources and program initiatives

• Work together using a coordinated 
approach to improve services 

• Give people living with epilepsy 
a national voice and become an 
effective advocate
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“ Teigan is probably only at the learning stage 
of a three to four year old,” says Lucy.  

“We teach her to copy her name, … Anything 
else she learns, she also quickly loses because 

of the seizure activity”.
 - Teigan’s mum, Lucy
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About 
THE EPILEPSY FOUNDATION

The Epilepsy Foundation is a community support agency for 
people living with epilepsy and their families. Services have 
been provided since May 1964, across Melbourne and regional 
Victoria, from our offices in Surrey Hills and Geelong.

The Epilepsy Foundation also supports 
other state service providers and has 
played an active role in the national 
peak body, the Joint Epilepsy Council 
of Australia (JECA), and the national 
federation of state-based epilepsy 
associations, Epilepsy Australia.

The Epilepsy Foundation provides 
support for people living with epilepsy 
and their families to help them achieve 
their goals. We work to raise awareness 
of epilepsy in the community to reduce 
the stigma and create a more welcoming 
and inclusive society.

People seek our services for a variety 
of reasons, depending on their age, 
stage of life, individual needs, the unique 
problems or issues they may be facing 
and their personal goals and aspirations.

Our services depend very much on 
individual needs. One of our primary 
aims is to see people managing their 
epilepsy in a way that enables them to 
live, study or work and participate in the 
activities they enjoy. Many people with 
epilepsy are able to play sport, swim, 
go to the movies and, after meeting 
VicRoads requirements, drive a car. 
Importantly, we work with people to help 
them regain their confidence so that 
they can continue to do the things they 
love or that matter most to them.

Services can be accessed in person, 
over the telephone, on line, via email 
or in a range of community settings 
such as a person’s home, school or 
workplace, and include:

• Information, library and resources on 
all aspects of living with epilepsy

• Individual and family support 
including advice, epilepsy 
counselling, case management and 
practical assistance

• Support for groups that gives an 
opportunity for people to talk with 
others, share experiences, problems 
and solutions for coping with 
epilepsy and enjoy activities

• Advocacy for individuals and families 
living with epilepsy

• Education and training to schools, 
the health profession, aged care 
and disability services, government 
departments and the wider 
community

• Psychological/social research and 
policy reform to understand more 
about the psychological and social 
aspects of living with epilepsy 
and ensure systemic change and 
advocacy for people with epilepsy at 
all levels of government and in the 
community.
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“People come from places like Geelong, 
Bendigo, Castlemaine and Gippsland to 
attend the group,” says Rob. “At least 70% 
of participants would experience active 
seizures; a few come in wheelchairs to 
assist mobility. They’re a really dedicated 
group. It is amazing to see the challenges 
overcome by the AWEsome group.

“For me, the most satisfying thing is to 
watch friendships develop and confidence 
grow in the participants. It’s really a step-
by-step process for them. The first step is 
to just get people who have been socially 
isolated to come to the group, then to 
see them socialize more confidently with 

In 1997, Rob began his involvement with 
the young adults social group, then called 
the Superfits and now known as the 
AWEsome (Adults with Epilepsy) group. 
The group aims to give young people over 
18 and adults with epilepsy the confidence 
to be socially active while living with 
epilepsy - to have fun, support each other, 
share experiences and to participate in 
new and challenging activities.

AWEsome meets every two months and 
participants are involved in activities 
such as ten-pin bowling, indoor cricket, 
movies, bush walking, go-karting and 
bus trips, and hold a fun-filled, activity-
packed weekend getaway each year. Over 
100 people are on the AWEsome mailing 
list, and between 20-25 regularly attend 
activities.

Volunteers are an essential part of the 
running of AWEsome, and most of the 
volunteers who support the group’s 
activities have previously been involved 
with the adult group as participants 
themselves. “The group as a whole looks 
out for each other,” says Rob. “If someone 
sees another having a seizure or is upset, 
they stay with that person until such time 
as a volunteer or staff member arrives or 
the person has recovered”.

Rob himself continues to be on the 
leadership committee with the AWEsome 
group, and values every opportunity to see 
so many of the participants flourish and 
grow in confidence. A more recent and 
valuable addition to the communication 
between AWEsome members is done 
through the group’s Facebook page. 

In May 2014, Rob was awarded the “Most 
Outstanding Person with Epilepsy” award 
for his volunteer contribution to people 
with epilepsy. He will be presented with the 
award in Singapore at the 10th Asian and 
Oceanic Epilepsy Congress in August.

Rob sees his volunteer role as a way of 
giving back and making a difference to 
people who live with epilepsy. “I still love 
being involved with the group. Even though 
I have three young kids to keep me busy, 
I get so many rewards from the AWEsome 
activities and camps”.

Written by Patrice Scales 
4 June 2014

assistance, and then to independently 
make friends and organise their own social 
activities”.

Rob’s epilepsy is now under control, but 
since his first contact with the Foundation 
in 1996, he has been one of the 
Foundation’s treasured volunteers, first as 
a trained community speaker, a committee 
member of the Superfits group and a 
camps volunteer. 

In 2003 Rob and his wife Cheryl were 
asked to become the volunteer co-
ordinators of the group. Rob and Cheryl 
now have three children – Riley aged 8, 
Jordon aged 7 and Tahlia aged 5. 

“For me, the most satisfying thing is to watch friendships  
develop and confidence grow in the participants....”

Robert Wierzbicki has never let epilepsy 
stop him from doing the things in life he 
enjoys. Whether it is playing the sports 
he likes or riding his bike, he has always 
seen his epilepsy as being part of his life, 
not something that stops him from being 
involved in his life.

Rob was diagnosed with epilepsy at age 
22 and was introduced to the Epilepsy 
Foundation in 1996. He attended seminars 
and obtained as much information as he 
could about epilepsy so he could learn, as 
he says, “about this medical condition that 
was to affect me in some way for the rest 
of my life”.

Epilepsy Foundation AWEsome Group –  
Robert Wierzbicki interview
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“ In the past, when I told people  
I have epilepsy, they would literally 
take a step back with a ‘don’t give it to 
me’ attitude, as if it were contagious,”
 - Shirley
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Our strategy

Five Strategic Outcomes continued to guide our work during 2013-14

Strategic Outcome 1
ENHANCED QUALITY OF LIFE FOR PEOPLE 
LIVING WITH EPILEPSY

• Enhanced quality of life for people living  
with epilepsy

• Develop a deep understanding of the needs 
of people living with epilepsy.

• Develop and deliver person and family 
centred services

• Build the capacity of the person and family 
to self-manage their epilepsy

• Continue to improve our services to  
people living with epilepsy

• Support self-advocacy and advocate  
on systemic and individual issues

• Implement a psycho-social research  
policy/strategy

Strategic Outcome 2 
SERVICE PROVIDERS ABLE TO SUPPORT 
PEOPLE AND FAMILIES LIVING WITH 
EPILEPSY 

• Build the capacity of Service Providers  
using a person and family centred approach 
that includes the “voice” of people living 
with epilepsy

•  Strengthen relationships and partnerships 
with the medical sector

Strategic Outcome 3 
SUCCESSFUL COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

• Position Epilepsy Foundation as the “Go To” 
organisation for epilepsy

• Build community awareness

• Build a suite of events across the year

• Establish an ambassador program

• Engage Governments

• Increase volunteer participation

• Funding needs supported and charity of 
choice status for a significant number of 
Australians

Strategic Outcome 4 
EPILEPSY FOUNDATION IS SUSTAINABLE

• Implement a quality framework and audit 
process across the organisation

•  Develop other assets/income streams to 
support core activities 

•  Maximise funds to enable the Epilepsy 
Foundation to support people living with 
epilepsy now and in the future

•  Invest in staff and develop a collaborative 
& productive culture

•  Develop organisational infrastructure and 
technology supports

Strategic Outcome 5 
EPILEPSY SERVICE SECTOR 
COLLABORATES WELL

• Market knowledge and experience to create 
positive change

• Work together to improve the lives of people 
living with epilepsy

• Give people living with epilepsy a national 
voice
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About epilepsy
Epilepsy is a significant community problem. People living with uncontrolled epilepsy 
suffer from wide-ranging physical, psychological and social issues, as epilepsy impacts on 
every aspect of their lives and the lives of their families and carers. These include being 
disadvantaged in obtaining an education, loss of employment or limited employment 
prospects, social isolation, loss of enjoyment or participation in everyday life, relationship 
problems and, potentially, chronic depression.

Epilepsy is also a silent problem. The social stigma, coupled 
with the emotional and physical trauma associated with 
uncontrolled epilepsy, means many people avoid revealing 
they have epilepsy – to their employer, their friends, even their 
loved ones – for fear of rejection, ridicule or lost opportunity. 
These are very real fears, as stigma and ignorance still exist 
today.

What is epilepsy?
Epilepsy is a disorder of brain function that takes the form 
of recurring seizures. Our thoughts, feelings and actions are 
controlled by brain cells that communicate with each other 
through regular electrical impulses. A seizure occurs when 
sudden uncontrolled bursts of electrical activity disrupt this 
regular pattern. 

This can be confined to just one part of the brain or can occur 
right across the brain. Communication between cells becomes 
scrambled and our thoughts, feelings or movements become 
momentarily confused or uncontrolled. 

While seizures can be frightening, in most instances they 
stop without intervention. Once the seizure is over, the person 
gradually regains control and reorients themselves to their 
surroundings, generally without any ill-effects. Approximately 
70 percent of people diagnosed with epilepsy will have their 
seizures controlled with medication.

Epilepsy takes many different forms
There are many different types of seizures, depending on 
which part of the brain the seizures occur in and how much 
of the brain is affected, making epilepsy an extremely difficult 
condition to accurately diagnose and treat. 

Sometimes a person with epilepsy will experience only 
one type of seizure throughout their life, while others may 
experience different types. It is also sometimes difficult to tell 
if a person is actually having a seizure – they may simply look 
like they are daydreaming or lose concentration for a moment.

Generally, seizures fall into two categories: focal or partial 
seizures and primary generalised seizures. The difference 
between these types is how they begin.

Focal or partial seizures

Focal or partial seizures start in one part of the brain (that is 
at a focal point in the brain) and affect that part of the body 
controlled by that part of the brain.

Simple partial seizures

Simple partial seizures are localised seizures, affecting only 
one part of the brain. The symptoms the person experiences 
will depend on the function that part of the brain controls. The 
seizure may involve the involuntary movement or stiffening 
of a limb, feelings of déjà vu, an unpleasant smell or taste, 
or sensations in the stomach such as ‘butterflies’ or nausea. 
The person remains alert throughout the seizure and can 
remember what happens. The seizure usually lasts less 
than two minutes. A simple partial seizure can progress to 
a complex partial seizure and/or a secondarily generalised 
seizure.

Complex partial seizures

This type of seizure also affects only one part of the brain but 
the person’s conscious state is altered rather than lost. The 
person may often appear confused and dazed and may do 
strange and repetitive actions like fiddling with their clothes, 
making chewing movements or uttering unusual sounds. 
These behaviours may also be described as trance-like or 
robot-like and are called automatisms. The seizure usually 
lasts for one to two minutes but the person may be confused 
and drowsy for some minutes to several hours afterwards 
and have no memory of the seizure or the events just before 
or after it. This type of seizure can be mistaken for drug or 
alcohol-affected behaviour or psychiatric disturbance. At times 
complex partial seizures can spread to become secondarily 
generalised seizures.

Primary generalised seizures

Primary generalised seizures involve the whole brain and 
therefore involve the whole body. There are many types 
of generalised seizures, some convulsive and others non-
convulsive.
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About epilepsy
(CONTINUED)

Absence seizures (previously called petit 
mal seizures)

This is a brief, non-convulsive event, usually 
occurring in the young, and involves the whole 
brain. With this type of seizure, the person’s 
awareness and responsiveness are impaired. 
They simply stare and their eyes might roll 
back or their eyelids flutter. It can be difficult to 
tell the difference between absence seizures 
and daydreaming. However, absence seizures 
start suddenly, cannot be interrupted, last a 
few seconds, and then stop suddenly and 
the person resumes what they were doing. 
Although these seizures last less than 10 
seconds, they can occur many times daily, and 
thus be very disruptive to learning.

Myoclonic seizures

Myoclonic seizures are brief, shock-like jerks 
of a muscle or a group of muscles, usually 
lasting no more than a second or two, which 
at times can result in a fall. There can be just 
one, but sometimes many will occur within a 
short time.

Atonic seizures

Atonic seizures cause a sudden loss or 
decrease of normal muscle tone and the 
person often falls to the ground. Seizures 
usually last less than 15 seconds. Often called 
‘drop attacks,’ these seizures can cause head 
or facial injury. Wearing protective headwear 
may avoid injury.

Tonic seizures

Tonic seizures greatly increase normal muscle 
tone and the body, arms or legs make sudden 
stiffening movements. These seizures often 
occur in clusters during sleep, although they 
can occur when the person is awake. If the 
person is standing they will fall quite heavily, 
often injuring their head. Protective headwear 
may avoid injury. Seizures usually last less 
than 20 seconds.

Tonic-clonic seizures (previously called 
grand mal seizures)

During a tonic-clonic seizure a person’s 
body stiffens, air being forced past the vocal 
cords causes a cry or groan and they fall to 
the ground (tonic phase). Their limbs then 
begin to jerk in strong, symmetrical, rhythmic 
movements (the clonic phase). The person 
may dribble from the mouth, go blue or red in 
the face, or lose control of their bladder and/or 
bowel as the body relaxes. As consciousness 
returns, the person may be confused, drowsy, 
agitated or depressed. They may have a 
headache and want to sleep. This drowsiness 
can last for a number of hours.

Although this type of seizure can be frightening 
to watch, the seizure itself is unlikely to 
seriously harm the person having the seizure. 
They may, however, vomit or bite their tongue 
and can sometimes injure themselves if they 
hit nearby objects as they fall or convulse.

Tonic-clonic seizures generally last from one 
to three minutes. If the active movements of 
the seizure last FIVE minutes it is advisable to 
call an ambulance. Prolonged seizures, or a 
series of seizures without a normal break in 
between, indicate a dangerous condition called 
convulsive status epilepticus and demands 
emergency treatment.

Status epilepticus

Status epilepticus (‘status’) is the term used to 
describe prolonged seizures of 30 minutes or 
more, or the occurrence of repeated seizures 
without regaining consciousness between 
attacks.

It is now widely accepted that after five 
to 10 minutes, damage is being done to 
neural tissue, hence the definition of status 
epilepticus is currently being reviewed, with 
some suggesting five minutes for convulsive 

seizures and 30 minutes for non-convulsive 
seizures constitute status epilepticus.

‘Status’ can occur with any type of seizure and 
is categorised as either convulsive or non-
convulsive. ‘Status’ can last from hours to days 
or, in the case of non-convulsive ‘status’, even 
weeks or months. 

Factors that may lead to ‘status’ include 
sudden withdrawal from medication, illness, 
fever and infections.

Convulsive ‘status’ may ultimately lead to 
brain damage and death unless stopped 
quickly – usually with the administration of 
emergency medication. Non-medical people 
such as parents and teachers can be trained 
to administer midazolam for someone who 
has a tendency to have prolonged seizures 
or clusters. This option would need to be 
discussed with a doctor who may prescribe 
emergency medication. 

It is recommended an Emergency Medication 
Management Plan be completed by the 
prescribing doctor and attached to the 
person’s Epilepsy Management Plan when 
emergency medication has been prescribed 
for epilepsy. Emergency plans are available 
from the Epilepsy Foundation. Training in the 
administration of emergency medication is 
strongly recommended and can be provided by 
the Epilepsy Foundation.
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About epilepsy 
(CONTINUED)

How many people are affected by epilepsy?

Epilepsy syndromes
A seizure is the physical sign that there has been a disruption 
to the normal functioning of the brain. If a person is told 
they have epilepsy it simply means that they have started 
experiencing seizures on a recurring basis. The seizures in 
epilepsy may be related to a brain injury or a family tendency, 
but often the cause is completely unknown. They tend to be 
unpredictable and occur without provocation. 

While epilepsy is also known as a seizure disorder, it is not 
just one disorder. As there are different types of seizures, so 
too are there different types of epilepsy disorders, called the 
epilepsies, each with its own particular set of features. When 
a disorder is defined by a characteristic group of features 
that usually occur together, it is called a syndrome. Epilepsy 
syndromes are defined by a cluster of features including:

• Seizure type/types and their severity and frequency

• The age of onset

• The causes of the seizures and whether there is a familial 
link

• The part of the brain involved

• Electroencephalograph (EEG) activity

• Seizure-provoking factors and

• The presence of other disorders in addition to seizures.

By understanding the nature and presentation of a particular 
syndrome the treating doctor can implement the most 
appropriate form of treatment and may be able to predict 
whether seizures will lessen or disappear over time. 

Epilepsy was ranked in the top five avoidable 
causes of death in young people aged 5-29.  
(The Victorian Government’s report Avoidable 

Mortality in Victoria – Trends between 1997 and 
2003.) Despite this alarming figure, it was also 
noted that epilepsy is a condition that can be 

well-managed and responds to early detection and 
treatment, typically in a primary health care setting.

Approximately 1 in 25 
people will have epilepsy  

in their lifetime. 

The number of people who  
are significantly affected by  

epilepsy including, for example,  
family members and carers, will be  

four times this number, or  

896,000 people 
at any one time

Up to 1 in 10 people will have  
a seizure in their lifetime, due to epilepsy 

or other health conditions.  

This represents 560,000 people 
who are directly affected or  

2.24 million people indirectly, yet 
significantly, affected. Seizures from 

epilepsy make up the major proportion  
of total seizures.

Recent US studies estimate 7 percent of people 
over the age of 65 will develop epilepsy. As at 

June 2011, there were 3.09 million people aged 
65 and over in Australia. Within this age group it is 
therefore estimated that approximately 216,900 

people will develop epilepsy.

7%



  epilepsy foundation | ANNUAL REPORT 2013 - 14     18

our organisation

About funding

The Epilepsy Foundation receives funding from the Victorian 
Government Department of Human Services. 

In 2013-14, the Epilepsy Foundation provided advice, 
information and support to more than 7,895 people. We 
support people of all ages, from babies and children through 
all stages of adulthood. 

 
We receive no government funding to support children who 
are under school-age, people who develop epilepsy over the 
age of 65, or those who have not started receiving services 
from us before 65. 

However, we continue to provide services to these groups 
from our charitable funds. These two demographic groups 
are particularly important to the Epilepsy Foundation given 
the number of young children who present with often 
uncontrolled and difficult to manage epilepsy (such as Dravet 
Syndrome, a particularly severe form of childhood epilepsy), 
and the fact that our ageing population means more and 
more older Victorians will experience their first seizure beyond 
the age of 65.

Our annual fundraising efforts are vital in ensuring we are able 
to meet the significant shortfall and can continue providing 
services at the current level. While our limited financial 
resources were fully utilised in providing services to all those 
who sought assistance in the past year, we know that there 
are many thousands of people living with epilepsy, as well as 
many more family members and carers who are affected by 
epilepsy, whose needs are not being met and for whom we 
simply do not have the resources to help.

We know that some people with epilepsy are able to live 
well and with little support, as their seizures are well under 
control. However, many people who could benefit from our 
services are not seeking help, either due to a lack of referral 
or awareness, or because of the perceived stigma associated 
with seeking help. We are also mindful of the growing 
strain that is being placed on our resources by our ageing 
population, and will continue to do so as many more older 
people experience their first seizures.

The prevalence and predicted growth in demand means a 
growing pressure on our limited resources which, in turn, 
means we must continue seeking new, sustainable and 
collaborative partnerships and strategies for delivering 
services. 

Our aim is to continue to develop a sustainable organisation 
that has the capacity to not only meet the current needs, but 
can expand services to those not currently being assisted and 
cope with the growing demand, while undertaking proactive 
programs to increase awareness of epilepsy and seizure first 
aid in the community.

The Epilepsy Foundation acknowledges the support of the 
Victorian Government.

In the 2014 financial year, we received $1,185,843 
in government funds, which covered approximately 
one-third of the cost of providing services and met 
only the most urgent needs. 
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corporate governance

“Community understanding and  
support is essential for a more  

inclusive society, a reduction in stigma 
and an improved quality of life for  

people living with epilepsy.”
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President & CEO’s report

Two hundred and thirty thousand people in Australia currently 
have epilepsy. 

For decades medical research has promised new drugs and 
treatments that would lead to seizure freedom, however in 
the 50 years since the Epilepsy Foundation was formed by 
concerned parents, little has changed in the rates of seizure 
freedom for people diagnosed with epilepsy. Whilst newer 
drugs and surgical techniques result in fewer side effects, 
around 30% of people diagnosed never achieve seizure 
freedom through medical intervention. Living with the fear  
of never knowing when the next seizure will happen is a  
reality for many people.

When someone gets a diagnosis of epilepsy they fear what 
the diagnosis means. Access to good information about their 
condition is vital for them to get over the fear.

Kids starting school fear how other kids and the teachers 
will treat them. But with epilepsy smart schools they get  
over the fear.

When someone leaves home they and their families fear what 
will happen. But with an epilepsy management plan and good 
self-management they get over the fear.

In the workplace people with epilepsy fear how other staff  
and management will treat them. But with workplace education 
and training programs and an understanding workplace they 
get over the fear.

When someone reaches their senior years they fear how they 
will cope with ageing with epilepsy. But with ageing well with 
epilepsy programs and understanding carers eventually they  
get over the fear.

But one fear remains throughout their lives. It is the fear of how 
other Australians will treat them when they find out about their 
epilepsy. As a result, many people with epilepsy are living with 
a secret and experience anxiety, stigma and social isolation.

The Australian community can change this. The Epilepsy 
Foundation is determined that people do not feel alone with 
their condition. This year we welcome Dame Quentin Bryce  
AD CVO as our National Patron. We will be working with 
Quentin to deliver the very best support to people no matter 
where they live.

The Epilepsy Foundation is here for people and families on 
their journey with epilepsy. For many this means support 
and information following diagnosis until seizure control is 
achieved. For those who do not achieve seizure freedom we 
are with them for the long haul to support them to live well 
with their epilepsy. For all people living with epilepsy we are 
working to change Australians understanding of epilepsy so 
that people no longer live in fear of disclosure.

The increasing demand for services requires us to generate 
more funds each year. There is so much more we could do to 
improve the quality of life for people living with epilepsy with 
more donor support.

Transforming lives requires evidence of what is important to 
people living with epilepsy. Research into the psychological 
and social impacts of epilepsy remains a key focus of the 
Epilepsy Foundation. Our national Australian Epilepsy Research 
Register continues to grow in all states and territories. The 
research highlight for the year was the publishing  
of a third paper from our longitudinal study and another 
related to our research into epilepsy knowledge in the 
disability sector in the international journal Epilepsy and 
Behavior (See Research pg 33 for detail). Our evidence based 
research from our longitudinal study is used to improve 
our practice, influence government policy and advocate for 
necessary changes in health practice.

Community support for Purple Day on 26 March continues to 
grow. This event is a focal point for epilepsy awareness week 
and a key part of bringing epilepsy to the forefront in  
our schools, workplaces and sporting clubs.

2014 marked the 50th anniversary of The Epilepsy Foundation. Unfortunately we are not 
able to celebrate, as we are still living in a community where Australians with epilepsy live 
in fear. Fear of the future, of prejudice, discrimination, unfair treatment and fear of being 
alone with their epilepsy.
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Epilepsy Foundation 
Patrons Council

The Department of Human Services in Victoria continues 
to provide valuable support by partnering the Foundation in 
providing services to people from school age through to 65 
who meet the disability criteria. DHS funding covers around 
half the total cost of our work supporting people living with 
epilepsy. We rely on the generosity of our donors and other 
supporters to make the balance of our work possible.

Thank you to our dedicated staff and volunteers for their 
passion and hard work. We thank our Board and Patrons for 
their wise council and support. Thank you also to all people 
and organisations with a desire to make a difference in the 
lives of people living with epilepsy. Most importantly, we thank 
YOU. Your support enables our services and the development 
of new programs that make a significant impact on the lives of 
people with epilepsy.

Prof. Mark Cook  
President

Graeme Shears
Chief Executive Officer

Chairman: Claude Ullin 

Ted Baillieu MLA

Dame Beryl Beaurepaire AC OBE

John Blackman

The Hon Bernard Bongiorno AO

Philip Brady

Julian Burnside AO QC

The Hon John Cain

Sean Cummins

Ivan Deveson AO

Melanie Eagle

Josh Frydenberg MP

David Galbally AM QC

Rhonda Galbally AO

Professor Petro Georgiou

Stera Gutnik

Professor David Hayward

Professor Brian Howe AO

John Jost

Robert Kirby

Justin Madden

Judy Maddigan 

Neil Mitchell

Emeritus Professor 

Sir Gustav Nossal AC CBE 

Barbara Rozenes

Peter Smith OAM

Ross Smith OAM

Richard Stanley QC

Michael Stillwell

Luisa Valmorbida
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 Our structure

The Board of the Epilepsy Foundation is responsible for the corporate governance of the 
organisation. It guides and monitors the business and its affairs on behalf of the members, 
to whom it is accountable. Its focus is to enhance the interests of members and the wider 
constituency of the epilepsy community.

The Board is committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance. The relationship between the Board and 
senior management is important to the Epilepsy Foundation’s long term success. Day-to-day management of the Epilepsy Foundation’s affairs, 
operation and administration, and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy initiatives, are formally delegated by the Board to the  
Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The Board, CEO and Executive Team set the corporate strategic direction.

A description of the Epilepsy Foundation’s main corporate governance practices is set out below. All these practices, unless otherwise stated,  
were in place for the entire financial year.

Composition of the Board
The Board consists of up to nine persons who are all  
non-executive members. The Board comprises persons  
with an appropriate range of qualifications and knowledge 
of finance, business, law, marketing, information technology, 
property, epilepsy, research, disability and consumer issues. 
Members act in a voluntary capacity and do not receive 
remuneration.

Board members’ responsibilities
The Board acts on behalf of, and is accountable to, the 
members. It identifies the expectations of members and  
the wider community and monitors changes in government 
policy and community expectations.

The Associations Incorporation Act and the Epilepsy 
Foundation’s Constitution govern the regulation of meetings 
and proceedings of the Board. The Board meets regularly  
and monitors the achievement of agreed targets and  
financial objectives against budget.

Relevant staff members attend Board meetings.

Board members’ terms of office
The Epilepsy Foundation’s Constitution specifies the terms  
for Board members.

Risk assessment and management
The Board is responsible for ensuring there are adequate 
policies in relation to risk oversight and management, and 
internal control systems. Policies are designed to ensure 
strategic, operational, legal, reputation and financial risks 
are identified, assessed, addressed and monitored to enable 
achievement of the Epilepsy Foundation’s business objectives.

Sub-committees
To maximise its efficiency and effectiveness, the Board has 
formed a number of sub-committees that consider specific 
areas of the Epilepsy Foundation’s activities and report back  
to the Board, including:

Finance, Audit and Risk Management Sub-committee

This sub-committee provides strategic advice to management 
and monitors and reviews the effectiveness of the control 
environment in the areas of operational and balance sheet 
risk, legal/regulatory compliance and financial reporting.  
The committee provides an independent and objective review 
of financial and other information prepared by management, 
in particular that to be provided to members and/or filed with 
regulators, and reviews the adequacy and scope of the audit 
plan of the external auditor.

Fundraising Sub-committee

This sub-committee provides an efficient mechanism  
for reviewing fundraising results, while overseeing the  
general fundraising strategy of the Epilepsy Foundation.

Research Sub-committee

The primary role of this sub-committee is to provide 
an efficient mechanism for reviewing, assessing and 
recommending to the Board research policies and  
procedures while overseeing the research strategy of the 
Epilepsy Foundation.

Each sub-committee operates under its own Charter.  
The Chair of the Board is an ex officio member of each  
sub-committee. Relevant Epilepsy Foundation staff are 
members of the sub-committees.
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The board
AS AT 30TH JUNE 2014

PROF. MARK COOK – PRESIDENT

DR CHRISTINE WALKER

Christine is currently Executive Officer of the 
Chronic Illness Alliance Inc., a peak body 
representing more than 55 consumer and 
advocacy organisations for people with chronic 
illness. In this role, she works collaboratively 
with a number of organisations, government 
departments and universities, to further the 
Alliance’s aims of improving the lives of people 
with chronic illness. Christine completed a 
PhD in 1995. She has experience in qualitative 

JIM CAMPBELL, AM

Following 30 years of military service, Jim 
has enjoyed senior management roles in 
IT in publically listed and privately held 
companies. Jim has also worked extensively 
in many different industries in the not-
for-profit sector. He was successful in 
completing complex, multi state restructures 
and integration projects and he currently 
consults on interesting change projects. Jim 
has undertaken work with numerous boards/
executives on strategic planning, governance, 
business planning and performance 

Currently Chair of Medicine at St Vincent’s 
Hospital, Professor Cook specialises in the 
treatment of epilepsy; his previous role was 
also at St Vincent’s as Professor and Director 
of Neurology. He is recognised internationally 
for his expertise in epilepsy management, 
particularly imaging and surgical planning. After 
completing specialist training in Melbourne, he 
undertook an MD thesis while working as Brain 
Research Fellow at Queen Square, London. He 
returned to St Vincent’s Hospital, Melbourne, 

to continue his interest in neuroimaging in 
epilepsy. Currently one of the largest units in 
Australia for the surgical treatment of epilepsy, 
this was a direct extension of work he began 
in London, where he developed techniques for 
the accurate measurement of hippocampal 
volumes, and established their position in non-
invasive assessment of surgical candidates. 
More recently, his interests have included 
experimental models of epilepsy and seizure 
prediction.

research and is Chief Investigator on a number 
of research projects. Christine has undertaken 
research for the longitudinal study of the 
social impact of epilepsy. She is a board 
member of NPS Medicinewise and a member 
of the Independent Advisory Council for the 
Personally Controlled Electronic Health Record. 
She is a board member of Epilepsy Australia.

evaluation, acting as a coach and mentor to 
Directors, CEOs and GMs. He has practised 
as a Company Director for 23 years. Jim is 
Vice President of the Foundation and serves 
on the Fundraising and Finance Audit and 
Risk Management Sub-committees, being 
the immediate past Chair of both. Jim is an 
Arts graduate of the Royal Military College 
of Australia and a business postgraduate of 
Monash University. Jim has personal family 
experience with epilepsy.
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The board
AS AT 30TH JUNE 2014

DR LINDSAY VOWELS

Dr Lindsay Vowels’ career has spanned 
more than 40 years in the disability sector, 
working primarily with people with a 
neurological disability. She is a consultant 
Neuropsychologist and Clinical Psychologist 
and works in a voluntary capacity with several 
applied research projects including the 
MS Longitudinal Database. Lindsay joined 
the Board in 1992, holding the positions 
of President and Vice President, and is the 
founding and past Chair of Epilepsy Australia. 
Her interests lie in the quality of services 

KATE MARSHALL

Kate Marshall is a partner with the commercial 
law firm Middletons. She has an LLB and 
B.Juris from Monash University and a Graduate 
Diploma (IP) from Melbourne University. She 
has specialised in technology and intellectual 
property commercial matters and disputes for 
over 20 years. Kate is Chair of the Middletons 
Women In Leadership Committee and a 
member of the Victorian Women Lawyers 
Work Practices Committee. She has been a 

JOE AZOULAY

Joe joined the Finance, Audit and Risk 
Management Committee of the Epilepsy 
Foundation in April 2013 and subsequently 
joined the Board in September 2013. Joe is 
currently a Director of Credit Suisse Private 
Bank and is responsible for advisory client 
relationships, specialising in high net worth 
individuals and family offices where he advises 
on wide range of asset classes and also in 
tailoring client investment solutions and was 
previously a Director of Deutsche Bank’s 
Asset and Wealth Management division from 
2008-2014. Prior to his career in banking, 

available to people with epilepsy, the education 
and training available to professional staff 
employed by the Foundation, and support 
and education services in rural and remote 
areas. She is involved in research into the 
psychosocial impact of epilepsy on individuals 
and their families, having convened the 
Research Working Party since 2004. Her 
hope is for a national research body to ensure 
all issues affecting people with epilepsy are 
adequately documented, investigated and 
publicised.

long term supporter of flexible work practices 
in a profession that has often found this 
challenging and continues to work at creating 
greater flexibility within the workplace. She has 
also been on the committee of management 
for various not-for-profit organisations and is 
involved with pro bono work across a variety of 
sectors. Kate has a son who has recently been 
diagnosed with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy.

Joe was COO of boutique fund manager Kira 
Capital and before that the Corporate and 
Business Manager for privately owned group 
Century Plaza. Joe commenced his career at 
corporate advisory firm Hindal Corporate. Joe 
holds a Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor 
of Arts from the University of Melbourne and 
is a Senior Associate of FINSIA. Joe has also 
completed the Leading Professional Services 
Firms course at Harvard Business School, 
Boston. Joe is passionate about assisting 
families who have been affected by Epilepsy 
and ensuring children with Epilepsy are 
provided with equal opportunities. Joe is 
married with three children.
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The board
AS AT 30TH JUNE 2014

LESLEY MCMENAMIN

Lesley joined the board in April 2014 and 
comes with over 15 years experience of sales 
and marketing within the Pharamceutical 
Industy. Lesley’s last position was Associate 
Director of the CNS business unit in UCB 
Australia, with a specific focus on therapeutic 
treatment options for Epilepsy and Parkinson’s 
Disease. In December 2013, Lesley’s 15 year 
old daughter suffered her first seizure and 

CORINNE YOUNG, GAICD

Corinne is currently the Manager of Corporate 
Support Services at the RACV. Corinne is an 
experienced senior executive who has worked 
in the state government, statutory authorities 
and community sector. She has worked across 
the areas of Education, the Environment, 
Transport, Community Development, Aboriginal 
Affairs and Corporate Services to improve 
social, environmental and economic outcomes. 
Corinne has extensive experience developing 

has since been diagnoised with Idiopathic 
Generalised Epilepsy with Photosensitivity. 
Lesley is passionate about making a difference 
for people and families living with Epilepsy. 
Her specific aim is generate awareness and 
destigmatise Epilepsy nationally. 

and implementing policy, organisational 
change, human resource management and 
service delivery. Corinne holds a Master of 
Education from the University of Melbourne 
and a Master of Public Policy and Management 
from Monash University. Corinne has been 
a member of the Epilepsy Foundation for 16 
years and has had personal family experience 
with epilepsy. She is interested in promoting 
an inclusive and stigma-free society through 
education and public awareness.

PETER GOVER

Peter Gover is the Chief Financial Officer of 
The Bionics Institute of Australia, which is 
a not-for-profit medical research institute 
working in a number of health areas, including 
epilepsy. Peter has a Bachelor of Accounting 
Science (Hons.) and is a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Australia. 
Peter has worked for the past decade in 
the not-for-profit sector, including a period 

where he consulted to several boards on 
financial management, governance issues 
and regulatory compliance. Previously, Peter 
was employed in various senior executive 
banking roles and held a number of board 
appointments. Peter is maried and has two 
teenage children.
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When Tracey Coats speaks about her eight 
year old son Jack, you cannot help but smile. 
She relates stories of an infectiously funny and 
socially engaging little boy. Jack also loves 
the super heroes and frequently appears at 
the Royal Children’s Hospital in his chosen 
costume of the day.

Since he was three years old, Jack has 
experienced uncontrolled seizures. As Jack’s 
mother Tracey says, “He just had seizure 
activity 24/7, and it went on like that over the 
next few years. At his worst, he couldn’t walk, 
couldn’t sit, couldn’t eat unaided and couldn’t 
talk”. It’s not a picture of life that any parent 
could imagine for their child, especially when 
you have no experience of epilepsy.

So Tracey turned to the Foundation where 
she received immediate help from a skilled 
counsellor, and informative material from the 
library. She also attended information sessions, 
and is part of a parent support group. 

Just after this diagnosis, Tracey contacted 
the Epilepsy Foundation. “I got onto Jan 
[Burns] and I couldn’t have had better help. I 
remember it was like a big weight being taken 
from me,” says Tracey. 

Yet throughout these four years, Tracey and 
Damien made sure that life was going on as 
normally as possible for Jack and their family. 

When Jack went to kindergarten, he had the 
help of a teacher’s aide, and if he was going 
through a particularly bad time, Tracey would 
stay with him.

Then there was debate about whether he 
should go to school. “Socially Jack was really 
able to cope, he had so many hospital visits 
that he learnt to relate really well with people. 
His neurologist encouraged his going to school 
because socially he needed it, but we knew he 
would struggle with the learning, and he’s still 
struggling.” 

If Tracey could give any advice to parents who 
find themselves in a situation such as her 
family, it would be to ‘get as much support 
as you can’. “Make sure you have a good 
epilepsy management plan in place; talk to 
the Foundation, see the social worker at the 
hospital, and keep talking to others about 
it. With people who have had no experience 
with epilepsy, I’d say ‘don’t be scared of it’. 
I explain to parents at the beginning of each 
year what type of epilepsy Jack has. Even my 
own friends are being educated about epilepsy, 
because they have seen Jack at his worst.”

One thing that is predictable is that young Jack 
Coats will continue to love his world of super 
heroes and will take everything in his stride – 
whatever life, and epilepsy, might throw at him.

“ Make sure you have a good 
epilepsy management 
plan in place; talk to the 
Foundation, see the social 
worker at the hospital, 
and keep talking to others 
about it.”

Jack Coats
Go Jack, go Jack!
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The Client Services team support the needs of individual 
people with epilepsy and their families, service providers 
and key people in community service organisations including 
disability, health, education, childcare and aged care service 
providers and the broader community. 

We assisted more than 7700 people in the 2013-14 year 
through our various programs, to understand and manage 
epilepsy better. An analysis of client data over the past 2 
calendar years has shown a considerable increase in the 
support provided to individuals through our programs

Client Snapshot

Client Services highlights
Enhanced quality of life for people  

living with epilepsy

Farewell to Jean Ewing 

Jean Ewing, Client Services 
Manager announced her 
retirement at the end of 2013 
after 17 years of service to 
people and families living 
with epilepsy and the Epilepsy 
Foundation. Her knowledge, 
skill and experience in 
epilepsy and the close working 
relationship with neurologist 
at the Royal Children’s and 

Austin Hospitals will be missed. She has been a key worker with 
many families and watched numerous children grow into adults. 
A farewell afternoon tea was held on 4th December for staff, 
clients and contacts.

Mark Green, Peer Support Leader also retired in February 2014 
after 12 years of service. Mark worked first as a volunteer 
providing support in hospital clinics and then moved into a 
paid role in 2002 continuing to provide support in the Royal 
Melbourne and Austin Hospital First Seizure Clinics. 

Janita Keating, Education and Training Manager was awarded 
a $5,000 scholarship from her superannuation company NGS 
Super. Super fund contributors who were non-government 
education employees working in management, teaching or 
support staff positions could apply for the award. A total of 
5 scholarships are awarded with Janita winning the only 
management category against a very strong field. This will 
enable Janita to complete a Diploma in Training Design and 
Development and attend the 10th Asian and Oceania Epilepsy 
Congress (August 2014) in Singapore. Janita intends to focus 
her Diploma studies on e-learning and the development of 
Epilepsy Education programs for staff and clients and to submit 
an abstract to the conference with the Nepalese Epilepsy 
Association based on the partnership she has established to 
increase epilepsy awareness across cultures in Nepal.

The quality of our Client Services are regularly externally 
audited and certified against the One DHS Standards and 
ISO 9001/2008 Quality Management System. A mid-term 
review was carried out in June 2014 and found no non-
conformance. Feedback from clients interviewed was very 
positive stating that our team had a good epilepsy knowledge 
base, provided emotional support, were always there and 
available, empowering and supportive to get the services, aids 
and equipment etc. they needed. The auditors also noted that 
as they go around the state auditing disability organisations 
from Portland to Shepparton and beyond that they find our 
work in practice with epilepsy management plans and training 
delivered to staff and families.

The Client Services team 
Our experienced and qualified staff have a diverse range of 
backgrounds in areas including social work, nursing, youth 
work, welfare studies, communication, primary and secondary 
education, health education, workplace training and 
assessment and management. They are supported through 
individual professional development which this year included 
Level 2 First Aid Training, CPR annual update, Complaints 
Management training and six staff attended the Sydney ESA 
Conference.

There were a number of staff changes during the year with 
some key staff announcing their retirement or resignation due 
to pregnancy and career change. which required a restructure 
of the Epilepsy Support Team and recruitment of new 
Education and Training staff. 

2013
1,450

2014
1,791

CLIENTS SUPPORTED 
Increased by 341 24%

2013
5,731

2014
6,846

PEOPLE TRAINED 
Increased by 1,115 19%
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day with 70% of caller’s being people 
with a new diagnosis. The team worked 
under extreme pressure during this 
exceptional demand whilst providing a 
high quality service to clients. The team 
focused their attention at this period to 
develop Epilepsy Management Plans and 
Emergency Medication Management 
Plans (Midazolam); especially critical as 
children went back to school.

An intake survey carried out during 
February and March 2014 showed 
that the vast majority of callers were 
new clients with most of these from 
metropolitan Melbourne. The interstate 
callers were referred to their local 
Epilepsy Community Service Organisation 
for support.

Regional Services 
Support to people with epilepsy was 
provided across all areas of the state, 
either via telephone, Skype, email or in 
person. Many were supported to develop 
Epilepsy Management Plans and access 
community services. 

People from regional Victoria were 
supported to access state-wide Epilepsy 
Foundation services such as the Family 
Respite Weekend, the Adult Getaway, 
the Epilepsy Specialist Series and the 
Women’s Epilepsy Network Weekend. 

Referral pathways were established with 
regional paediatricians in Ballarat and 
Warrnambool. Medicare Local in the 
Warrnambool and Ballarat areas also 
proved useful in promoting our Disability 
Education and Training seminars.

The Bendigo Epilepsy Capacity Building 
Project continued to increase our 
regional coverage and build the epilepsy 
knowledge and skills within Bendigo 
Community Health Services. This project 
ensures epilepsy support is delivered by 
“locals to locals”. An additional Bendigo 
Community Health Nurse was trained 
to deliver epilepsy and emergency 
medication training in the Bendigo area. 
An evaluation brief has been agreed with 
Bendigo Community Health Services 
and will be contracted out in the coming 
months with the potential replicate 
the model into the other areas to be 
assessed.

Epilepsy Information & Support
Much of the support we provide to 
individuals and families centres on the 
need for information about epilepsy, how 
to manage and understand the condition 
and practical support. Our Helpline 
enables people to ask questions about 
their epilepsy and express their feelings 
about their situation, to understand 
and access government benefits, 
information on safety issues, seizure 
or medication management, and other 
services. Examples of some of the work 
undertaken in the year include;

• Families coping with a finding of 
SUDEP (Sudden Unexpected Death 
from Epilepsy), one a child of seven 
years, the other an adult of 59 years.

• Support following diagnosis of 
epilepsy.

• Consultation with kindergartens 
and day care centres in relation to 
children with epilepsy, including 
those supported by the Transport 
Accident Commission (TAC.)

• Numerous Epilepsy Management 
Plans to facilitate either epilepsy 
training or Midazolam training 
or to support family members to 
understand epilepsy better.

• Some challenging casework was 
undertaken with new immigrants 
and clients with Culturally and 
Linguistically Diverse Backgrounds 
(CALD). Many presenting with 
language barriers requiring the use 
of interpreters and with multiple 
social and physical complexities. 
These included clients and 
families from: Cambodia, Burma, 
Afghanistan, Vietnam, Serbia and 
Lebanon.

• Frequent mental health issues have 
been identified requiring assessment 
and/or referral.

The start of 2014 and the school 
year saw an unprecedented demand 
both for epilepsy information, support 
services and education and training. On 
occasions this was up to 17-18 calls per 

“Aboriginal people are on average 
two times more likely to present 
and be admitted to hospital with 
epilepsy” (Census 2011) 

Help Line Survey
PREVIOUS  
CLIENTS  

26%

METRO  
MELB. 

60%

REGIONAL 
VIC 

25%

OTHER 
STATES 

15%

NEW  
CLIENTS  

74%

A review of the partnership with Cairnmillar 
Institute which delivered psychological 
support to clients over the last two years 
was completed and a decision made not to 
continue the service due to limited capacity 
to provide supervision to a provisional 
psychologist within the team. The project 
found that people with epilepsy do benefit 
from psychological support given the high 
level of anxiety and depression associated 
with epilepsy. This skill set will be factored 
into the mix of staff for the future. The 
range of support provided included anxiety, 
depression, grief, stress management, 
vocational issues and adjustment concerns.

Caller Location



ANNUAL REPORT 2013 - 14 | epilepsy foundation  |  30

corporate governance

The Department of Health (DoH) funded Epilepsy 
Peer Support Project achieved its outcomes 
as part of the State government’s Health 
Condition Support Grants Program. The project 
was delivered in conjunction with Bendigo 
Community Health Service and completed a 
final report and presentation to DoH in October 
2013. Achievements included:

• Review and expansion of epilepsy peer 
support groups operating in Victoria

• Collection of significant information and 
data from two surveys with peer support 
group members

• Completed literature reviews of peer 
support and self-help groups use with 
epilepsy including Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander (ATSI) and Culturally and 
Linguistically Diverse (CALD) communities.

• Consultation with ATSI & CALD Community 
Leaders Regarding Epilepsy Related Needs

• Completed a Case Study of the Bendigo 
Support Group that identifies a range of 
issues for groups

• Piloted a partnership model with 
community health in peer support

• Developed pathways between health/
human services and epilepsy peer support 
groups

The common thread throughout the literature 
is that, overall, people with epilepsy gain a 
better understanding of their condition through 
contact with others with epilepsy, regardless 
of the contact format. This was reflected in 
respondents to surveys conducted by the 
project as listed below:

• 85% of people were satisfied with the 
groups

• The benefits of a group included better 
communication with friends, family and 
medical practitioners

• Nearly three quarters reported feeling 
more confident in dealing with their 
condition from being in a group

• Group members want the Epilepsy 
Foundation to promote groups and to 
secure funding

• People mainly join groups to meet other 
people with epilepsy who understand their 
condition. 

• Most groups met more than 5 times a year 
with most meeting at a social venue. 

• About half the respondents had contact 
with other group members between 
meetings.

In June 2013 we were successful again 
in obtaining Department of Health: Health 
Condition Support Groups Funding ($90,909) 
for the 2013-14 year. This will be carried 
forward into 2014-15. The program will move 
the leadership and facilitation of groups to a 
“peer led” model which has been established 
with a Leadership Group for the AWEsome 
(adults with epilepsy) group and the Women’s 
Epilepsy Network. The project will also establish 
a new group in Frankston, develop Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander (ATSI) resources to 
support ATSI elders as peer leaders in Bendigo 
(in partnership with Bendigo Community Health 
Services (BCHS)) and pilot epilepsy peer support 
leaders program in a secondary schools.

Systemic advocacy
Individual advocacy is regularly provided to 
people living with epilepsy and their families. 
An approach that builds the confidence and 
skills in the person to self-advocate is used. 
For example a Gippsland family was supported 
to self-advocate with their daughter’s school 
regarding discrimination which arose from the 
school being overly cautious and protective 
about the girl’s epilepsy.

Advocacy for people with epilepsy under the 
National Disability Service has been ongoing 
throughout the year. A joint submission was 
prepared in response to National Disability 
Services discussion paper, “The Place for 
Block Funding in the NDIS”. This was prepared 
in conjunction with the Neurological Alliance 
incorporating MS, MND, Parkinson Victoria and 
Brainlink to particularly address the needs of 
people not covered by the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme.

Library 
The Library continued to update the collection, 
provide research assistance and disseminate 
current appropriate information on epilepsy 
to clients, staff, other service providers and 
members of Epilepsy Australia and the wider 
community. Presto for DB Text, a library web 
based software system, was purchased to help 
streamline the collection and management 
of data particularly relating to journal articles. 
This will enable greater access to the library 
catalogue and journal abstracts via the internet. 

Group support 
Weekend getaways and peer support groups 
are an important part of the support we 
provide in creating opportunities for people 
with epilepsy and family members to come 
together. These opportunities enable people to 
share experiences, problems and ideas about 
managing their epilepsy and create connections 
with other like-minded people to reduce social 
isolation and increase epilepsy knowledge 
and confidence for people in managing their 
epilepsy better.
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• Eleven families attended the Family 
Respite Weekend held at the YMCA 
Recreation Anglesea from 11-13 
April 2014. Families were supported 
over the weekend by two EF staff 
who led a team of 15 volunteers 
including qualified childcare staff 
who offered three 3 hour sessions 
for pre-schoolers. Separate ‘Dads 
Together’ and ‘Mums Together’ 
sessions where held with Dads 
playing lawn bowls and the Mums a 
cuppa and cake at the local Nursery 
café. A $10,000 grant from the 
Marian E H Flack Trust was greatly 
appreciated to cover some of the 
costs associated with the weekend.

• The Geelong team provided support 
to several groups including the 
following range of activities: 

 › Geelong Adult Support Group had 
a session on sharing of hobbies 
and interests, a visit to the Shrine 
of Remembrance, a group lunch 
and Sorrento ferry trip.

 › Colac Support Group held a 
session on the NDIS and a lunch

 › Geelong Parent Support Group 
had a Geelong PSG informal 
morning tea for members

 ›  Ballarat Parent Support Group 
met regularly and an art for 
therapy class. 

 › The Hamilton/Portland Group 
met twice for lunch during the 
year.

• Bendigo Epilepsy Support Group 
has seen a drop in membership 
over the last few years. A re-launch 
of the group was held in April 
2014 with an Epilepsy Information 
Session in Bendigo provided by Dr 
Mark Newton. This failed to grow 
the membership and on this basis 
the support group has disbanded 
but will continue as a community 
fundraising group. 

•  Goulburn Valley Epilepsy Support 
Groups met regularly and a Parent 
Support Network Lunch was held for 
families with children with difficult to 
control epilepsy

• The 7th Epilepsy Memorial Service 
was held on March 16, 2014 
at St Mark’s Camberwell with 
approximately 130 people attended 
the service and the afternoon tea 
which followed. As always, many 
people expressed their appreciation 
of the opportunity to share with 
others the remembrance of their 
loved ones. A parent who lost a 
daughter to SUDEP filmed the service 
for inclusion in a documentary she is 
making on SUDEP.

•  Women’s Epilepsy Network received 
a $10,000 grant from Give Where 
You Live (GWYL) for a weekend 
getaway which was held from 
13-16 March at Camp Wyuna, 
Queenscliff. Thirty participants 
and 4 staff attended the weekend 
which included a visit to the beach 
and ukulele playing. Feedback was 
very positive with one woman from 
Gippsland saying that she felt like a 
normal person after meeting other 
woman with epilepsy. Lunches were 
also held in Melbourne and Ballarat. 

Our support groups were very active 
during the year with a range of education, 
social and support events held. Disability 
Self Help Funding Grants were received 
for six epilepsy support groups from 
the Department of Human Services and 
two groups received funding from the 
DoH Health Condition Support Grants 
Program. Examples of our support group 
activities and events include:

• The Adult Getaway Weekend was 
held at the Christian Youth Camp 
in Melbourne CBD on October 
11-13. A total of 37 clients, 3 staff 
and 12 volunteers participated in a 
range of activities including visits 
to the Aquarium, MCG, a chocolate 
factory, and in-house sessions 
on creating mosaics. This was 
the first weekend getaway in the 
city with three quarters of people 
from rural Victoria. New volunteers 
were recruited through Australian 
Catholic University and Swinburne.

• The AWEsome adult support group 
(formerly named Superfits) was 
reformed with a Leaders Group 
of 6 members taking key roles in 
running the group progressively 
over the year. The Leaders Group is 
a self-management model that will 
be rolled out across other groups 
and will free staff to establish more 
groups and services. Communication 
with group members is now through 
a new group newsletter. The group 
agreed to meet 5 times per year 
and to have both activity focussed 
and peer group meetings. Activities 
included a Christmas party in 
December 2013, a BBQ on the 
banks of the Yarra, movies, and trip 
to the Werribee Zoo. 

“Epilepsy is the 3rd highest of the top 10 ambulatory care 
sensitive hospital admissions, by Indigenous status after 
Diabetes and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease”  
(Dept. of Health & Ageing ATSI Health Performance Framework 2012)
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Service providers able to support 
people and families living with 
epilepsy
Education and Training
The Education and Training team have experienced a high 
demand for Emergency Medication (Midazolam) training 
especially within schools and in response to the NDIS Practical 
Design Funded ‘Epilepsy: Know Me, Support Me’ resources. 
A high number of these training requests were also a result 
of the Epilepsy Smart Schools program which commenced in 
the year. The majority of participants were from schools and 
disability service providers, with smaller numbers of families 
and other health and community service providers.

The Epilepsy Foundation provides general and specialist 
epilepsy information sessions to people living with epilepsy 
and their families through workshops, and epilepsy education 
and training to a broad range of professionals including:

• Disability and community care support workers, 
supervisors and assessors

• Nurses

• Aged care workers

• Workplaces

• Government agency workers

• Employment services, such as Disability Employment 
Services

• School teachers, teachers’ aids, special development 
schools, kindergartens and crèches.

The Education and Training Team has designed the Epilepsy 
Foundation’s training packages after extensive consultation 
with organisations and people living with epilepsy. Training 
is evidence-based from current research and emphasises a 
person and family-centred approach. 

Education and Training sessions and workshops carried out in 
2013-14:

• Epilepsy Information Workshops were delivered monthly 
for the first half of the year to people with epilepsy (most 
of who were newly diagnosed), family and friends at 
various locations with good attendance. 

• Epilepsy Specialist Series Workshops were delivered 
in partnership with health and community professionals 
who donated their time to make these sessions possible. 
Epilepsy Specialist sessions were delivered on Epilepsy 
in Children, Epilepsy Surgery and two Parent/Carer Days, 
Anxiety & Depression, Bone Health. These were supported 
by Dr Pat Carney, Dr Michael Hayman, Hannah Hawkes, 
Probationary Psychologist, Prof John Wark, Prof Ingrid 
Schaffer, Dr Silvana Micallef, and Dr Mark Newton.

• Emergency Medication Administration training – 
prolonged seizure activity is increasingly being managed 
by emergency medication, with midazolam typically 
being prescribed. The delivery of education and training 
to support the administration of emergency medication 
continues to be in demand from families and a variety 
of health and community professionals, with the highest 
demand in schools and early childhood services. 

• Epilepsy Training for Nurses – our “Understanding and 
Managing Epilepsy for Nurses Professional Development 
Course was again accredited by the ’Royal College 
of Nursing Australia and Australian Practice Nurses 
Association (APNA) and proved popular again this year. 
Regular meetings were held with the Royal Children’s 
Hospital (RCH) team - Specialists and nurses with 
links established from the RCH website to epilepsy 
management plans on our website. 

SCHOOLS 

54%

COMMUNITY 
SERVICES 

1%

DISABILITY 

35%

HEALTH 
SERVICES 

2%
FAMLIES  

8%

Education & Training Participants

“I find the group to be a group of people who are all dealing with similar issues.  
If I was to go out with friends they do not understand the stress and heartache that goes 
with living and caring for someone with epilepsy. At least in the group environment we 
can speak the truth and not hide behind a face that is actually dealing with issues that 
often you don’t want to burden others with who are not in the same situation”
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• Understanding and Managing Epilepsy for Disability 
Workers – the The NDIS Practical Design Funded 
‘Epilepsy: Know Me, Support Me’ resources developed last 
year proved popular with both people with a disability and 
disability services providers across the state. This resulted 
in further printing of resources and increased requests for 
disability education and training. Copies of the resources 
continue to be available for download from our website 
www.epinet.org.au.

• Schools and Early Childhood Epilepsy Education – 
creating an inclusive environment for children with epilepsy 
in the classroom and ensuring teachers understand the 
student’s epilepsy and the potential impact on learning is 
a key focus of education and training delivered to schools. 
The start of the academic year saw a very strong demand 
for training with a 134% increase in the number of training 
sessions delivered over the previous year. A pilot Information 
evening for parents of children attending two Eastern 
suburbs Special Development Schools was also undertaken.

• The Epilepsy Smart Schools initiative offers a range 
of on-line resources that can be used by teachers and 
students to understand epilepsy and learn about how a 
whole school approach can be used. The program has 
a strong focus on social inclusion and providing self-
advocacy opportunities for students in the classroom to 
speak to their class about their epilepsy if they so wish. 
This was evaluated and a peer education component 
developed based on some of the learning and observations 
of a program used at Mt Erin College, Frankston South. 
Year 9 First Aiders educated Year 8 students about 
epilepsy. The model of peer education used was a strong 
one and made a significant impact.  
The students delivered this epilepsy education to nearly 
300 students and teachers. The Year 9 Peer Educators 
from the school attended the Epilepsy Foundation Dinner. 
A $10,000 grant from the Bell Charitable Trust supported 
this work. 

National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) 
A high proportion 1:4 of the participants under the NDIS will 
have epilepsy usually in association with another disability 
such as intellectual disability or cerebral palsy. The Epilepsy 
Foundation became a registered NDIS service provider with 
some of its existing Victorian Department of Human Services 
Disability Funding being allocated as “in kind” support to 
the Barwon Launch site. These funds can be used with any 
existing or new people with epilepsy that became participants 
of the NDIS. Once this allocation is utilised EF will move to 
direct payments from the NDIS for supports provided. 

The number of clients with NDIS packages has steadily 
increased with the Geelong office actively implementing 
services and several new clients making contact. A much 
higher level of assessment, planning and reporting is required 
with increased skills in casework, assessment and report 
writing. 

Highlights for the year under the NDIS included the following:

•  Staff travelled to Newcastle to promote the ‘Epilepsy: 
Know Me, Support Me’ resources and delivered a 
workshop to people with a disability and families, to 
disability service providers and NDIS Planners and 
Program Directors. VIVA Communication provided  
pro-bona support with media coverage.

• Attended monthly Geelong NDIS Readiness Meetings for 
service providers to support the implementation of the NDIS.

• Several National Disability Services (NDS) facilitated 
workshops to support the transition were attended 
including: Process Mapping, Marketing, ICT & NDIS 
Registration, Participants & Planning, NDIS Service 
Clusters & Pricing, NDIS Design and Implementing 
Organisational Change program, Mental Health and the 
NDIS, Deregulated Prices and Quoting, Unit Costing, 
Pricing and Working Capital

•  Presentation to NDIS staff at State-wide Providers Forum

•  NDIS Information Session to assist existing Epilepsy 
Foundation clients to understand the NDIS and how they 
could get the epilepsy support they need was held with  
21 people attending.
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•  Liz Cairns, State Manager National Disability Insurance 
Agency (NDIA) presented at the Epilepsy Foundation 
Annual Dinner and reaffirmed her commitment to have 
her staff trained in understanding epilepsy and to support 
to have the ‘Epilepsy: Know Me, Support Me’ resources 
adopted by NDIA Nationally.

•  Conference presentation and exhibit held at VALID Having 
Your Say Conference 

• An article on our experience of the NDIS was published 
in the NDS NDIS bulletin and circulated to all disability 
organisations in the State.

• Relationships with the NDIA Planners and Managers have 
been established in order to best position the Foundation 
to work within the NDIS system. 

• NDIA agreed to provide funding to the Foundation to  
co-design an epilepsy protocol and guided questionnaire 
for NDIA staff to better support people with epilepsy as 
they register with the NDIS. Once completed NDIA staff 
will be trained by EF in how to use the protocol, the 
support available and how to use the Practical Design 
Fund ‘Epilepsy: Know Me, Support Me’ resources. 
Every person with epilepsy that registers with the NDIS 
will receive a copy of the Better Practice Guide and be 
informed about what good support looks like.

Research
The Longitudinal Study into the Needs, Perceptions and 
Experiences of People with Epilepsy, which draws on the 
Research Register, continues to be the focus of research at 
the Epilepsy Foundation. Our evidence-based research is used 
to influence government policy and to advocate for necessary 
changes in health practice.

The highlights for the year were the publishing of a paper 
from the Longitudinal Study in the international journal, 
Epilepsy and Behavior on the analysis of Hospital Anxiety and 
Depression Scale data from the Wave 2 Longitudinal Study. 
Other highlights:

•  National Australian Epilepsy Research Register continues 
to grow in all states and territories

• Data analysis on the Wave 3 Longitudinal Study was 
completed in partnership with the Chronic Illness Alliance 
and Dr Chris Petersen, Latrobe University

•  The Wave 3 Longitudinal Study analysis and report will 
be completed in the forthcoming year thanks to funding 
provided by UCB Pharma $20,000.

• Promotion of our Australian Epilepsy Research Register 
received support from UCB Pharma with $15,000 
provided for a new brochure, poster and marketing of the 
register across Australia.
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Tackling epilepsy in those over 65 years
This 3 year partnership project funded by the J.O. & J.R. 
Wicking Trust, Helen McPherson Trust and Aged Care Persons 
is led by the Epilepsy Foundation (EF) with its partners the 
National Ageing Research Institute (NARI), Benetas and the 
Council on the Ageing (COTA). The project aims to address the 
needs and risks associated with epilepsy in the over 65 years 
age group, researching and developing a service model for 
managing epilepsy in aged care that supports people to stay 
in their own home and delays or eliminates the necessity for 
residential care. This population group is one of the largest 
of newly-diagnosed groups with epilepsy and one that will 
increase in number as the Australian population increases. 
The project achieved the following:

• Project Management Group met regularly

• Conference Workshop: Dementia & Recreation 
Conference, Melb Oct 2013 (EF)

• Conference Workshop: Aged Care Nurse Managers 
Conference, Melb 2013 (EF)

• Poster Presentation: Australian Association of Gerontology 
Conference, Sydney Nov 2013 (NARI)

• Literature Review: Tackling Epilepsy in the Later Years, Dec 
2013 (NARI)

• Identification of Education & Training Best Practice & 
Report, Dec 2013 (NARI)

• Development of Survey Tool for older people & aged care 
sector to assess epilepsy knowledge & concerns, May 
2014 (COTA, Benetas, NARI, EF)

• Ethics Submission, June 2014 (EF)

The project has benefited over 400 participants from the aged 
care sector through the two conference workshops and a 
similar number through the AAG Conference poster.

Epilepsy Community Service Collaboration
The Epilepsy Foundation facilitated a national bi monthly 
Epilepsy Worker teleconference throughout the year with a 
meeting held in Sydney as part of the Epilepsy Society of 
Australia Conference. The NDIS funded ‘Epilepsy: Know Me 
Support Me’ resources were distributed to other states and 
experiences shared in working with groups, adolescents and 
other groups. 

Trusts and Foundations
Lord Mayor’s Charitable Foundation 2013 Youth in 
Philanthropy Program provided a grant of $3000 to 
support the development of an “Epilepsy in the Workplace 
– Understanding is the Difference Program” which aims to 
develop resources for employers and employees that supports 
understanding the rights and responsibilities around managing 
and supporting the person with the epilepsy in the workplace. 
Year 10 students from Trinity Grammar were given $10,000 
by the LMCF to allocate the funds to organisations as part of 
their Youth in Philanthropy Program which aims to increase 
philanthropy in the next generation. Our submission was 
shortlisted with three other organisations.
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We would like to acknowledge the wonderful generosity of our donors, supporters and 
sponsors through our many and varied fundraising activities. Our reliance on non-government 
income brings with it the challenge of maintaining sustainable income levels. 

Competition within the not for profit sector has grown as more 
and more organisations step up their fundraising activities. It 
is against this background that we were forced to make two 
significant changes to our fundraising program. 

The first was to close our East Kew Op Shop due to the 
ageing and unsafe building which had impacted badly on the 
business. After 30 years of wonderful effort from so many 
volunteers it was a heart wrenching but necessary thing to do.

The second change was to close down, after 18 years and 
73 raffles, our raffle program. As the cost of acquiring new 
supporters and donors becomes so much harder we need to 
work smarter to retain the philanthropic support of existing 
donors and supporters that is so vital to maintaining our 
services.

Strategically, we are constantly looking at the balance 
between having multiple fundraising programs to mitigate our 
risk against a downturn and maximising the amount of funds 
we generate at any one time. 

Fundraising Highlights
•  Our Community Door to Door fundraising program grew 

from $626,578 to $749,315.

• Purple Day grew from $75,033 to $179,398

•  Community fundraising grew from $27,730 to $41,944.

•  Launch of our Giving Hub, www.supportepilepsy.com.au 
during the year which saw online donations grow from 
$71,958 to $137,359 

• Trusts and specified donations income up from $17,379 
to $161,269.

• We put in place a donor recognition pin that recognizes 
people have supported the Foundation for ten consecutive 
years. Graeme Shears the Foundation’s CEO presented 
the pin in person at two different donor morning teas in 
May and June.

• The Davis Society was started as a way of recognizing the 
people who have committed to supporting the Foundation 
through a gift in their will.

Fundraising Challenges
•  While our appeals program suffered an overall decline in 

support of a 3% in funds raised, our Tax Appeal at year 
end was slightly ahead. We now need to regrow this 
support by focusing on stronger relationships with our 
existing donors.

•  Closure of the raffle program work is under way to convert 
the database of existing raffle buyers to making a donation 
only. 

•  The Foundation is keen to see all people living with 
epilepsy get the best possible opportunities in life. There is 
a significant challenge to raise major philanthropic funds 
to help fund this goal.

• Our Epilepsy Op Shops rely on donated goods, aggressive 
collection methods by commercial operators have meant a 
reduced supply of goods to our shops which has become 
a significant problem.

Our philosophy is to improve the 
‘connectedness’ of supporters by allowing them 
to engage with us in as many ways as possible. 

The challenge then is across the multiple touch points the 
supporters have with the Foundation and how do we best 
relate to them.

One way is by giving them Choice, Information, Involvement 
and Commitment: -

• Choice – giving supporters the opportunity to support 
them in the way that best suits them;

• Information - providing information about what we do in 
a way that makes it understandable and relevant to our 
supporters;

• Involvement – finding ways for our supporters to be 
engaged in our work in deeper and more meaningful ways 
than just giving money;

• Commitment – finding better ways of building long term 
commitment from our supporters.
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2013 Christmas Appeal
We try to run our Appeals in a way that 
gives each supporter the best chance 
to be involved in the way that best suits. 
In today’s fast moving world that means 
using online and digital channels just as 
much as the traditional methods.

Your gift, whatever you can afford, will 
enable us to provide practical assistance and 

long-term support to adults and children 
living with the many unpredictable and life-

threatening challenges of epilepsy. With your 
help we can do so much more. 

“… Jack’s appealing personality … has enabled him to show such resistance throughout the last five years of severe myoclonic epilepsy.”

Jack was three when he had his first EEG. “It was 

a shock to get the diagnosis and for him to be put 

on medication the same day.”

“Jack’s an intelligent kid and I knew in the right 

environment he would learn. You just have to think 

differently to help him.”

“When the Foundation started the parent support 

group in Ballarat, I jumped at it. Everyone in the 

group is dealing with something different, but we 

all know what each of us is going through.”

Your donation to our Christmas 
Appeal is urgently needed to 

assist families who live with the 
reality of epilepsy every day. 

Jack loves super heroes and frequently appears at 
the Royal Children’s Hospital in his chosen costume 
of the day.”

Your support this year has made our work possible. 

From the Epilepsy Foundation and the  

many people you have helped, we send our thanks  

and our warmest wishes for the New Year.

Seasons greetings

587 Canterbury Road Surrey Hills VIC 3127   |   phone (03) 8809 0600   |   web www.epinet.org.au

Major Appeals

‘People giving to people’ is at the heart of all 
philanthropy. The generosity of our donors and 
supporters is matched by the courage of our 
clients as they give us access to their lives and 
those of their families. As much as possible, 
we seek to include as many stories as we can 
about our clients to show every supporter the 
challenges they face.
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Communication Highlights
Our supporter communications are thoughtfully produced to 
maximize awareness of the issues around epilepsy. Whilst we 
have limited resources, the need to gain greater awareness 
of the issues around epilepsy is vital. Increasing stakeholder 
engagement is a major strategic objective for the Epilepsy 
Foundation.

The Epilepsy Foundation uses a range of communication 
tools to support and inform our clients, the public, health care 
providers and its stakeholders about programs and services. 
This includes our website, brochures, mail-outs, newsletters, 
quick reference guides and fact sheets. We ensure that we are 
responsive, open and transparent, and produce high-quality 
information communication products through a range of print, 
media and other information services.

• During the year the Epilepsy Foundation engaged 
with local, state and national media to promote public 
understanding of issues around living with epilepsy. 
Purple Day is permanently held on 26 March, so we have 
expanded to an Epilepsy Awareness Month to include this 
date; case studies included client stores and Purple Day 
fundraising stories.

• The Epilepsy Foundation expanded its social media activity

• Internally the Epilepsy Foundation used much of its 
comprehensive epilepsy content to expand our specialised 
education and training programs.

We encounter many acts of generosity over any 
given year and I could never recount them all 
even though I would like to. Thank you to all 
who have helped in some way. You are all 
making a difference.

Major Appeals
People giving to people, it is at the heart of all philanthropy. 
The generosity of our donors and supporters is matched by 
the courage of our clients as they give us access to their lives 
and those of their families. As much as possible we seek to 
include as many stories as we can about our clients to show 
every supporter the challenges that these clients face, what 
we think needs to be done and the things that we have done 
to change the lives of our clients.

2013 Christmas Appeal –
Jack

2014 Tax  
Appeal - Teigan
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Charitable status, tax concessions and fundraising

Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Inc ABN 75 967 571 784 is an 
incorporated association – Reg. No. A0022674D.

Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria is a Public Benevolent 
Institution (PBI). It is endorsed as an Income Tax Exempt 
Charity (ITEC) and enjoys certain other tax concessions and 
exemptions consistent with its status as a PBI which relate to 
Goods and Services and Fringe Benefits taxes. 

Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria has been endorsed by the 
Australian Taxation Office as a Deductible Gift Recipient (DGR).

Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria is registered with Consumer 
Affairs Victoria as required by law to raise funds, Registered 
Number 12287 (expires 7/01/2016). 

Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria is a declared charitable 
organization for minor gaming purposes  
with The Victorian Commission for Gambling Regulation  
– Reg. No. 40315.

The Epilepsy Foundation and our fundraising staff are 
members of Fundraising Institute Australia (FIA)  
and subscribe to the FIA Codes of Professional  
Fundraising Practice.
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Honour roll 
2013-2014

We sincerely appreciate the help that so many people and organisations have 
given us from July 2013 to June 2014. Those listed below, in addition to many 
others, have substantially contributed in some way to helping Australians whose 
lives are touched by epilepsy.

Spotlight Foundation
Consolidated Chemical Co.
Mrs Amanda Lawrance
Mrs Joan O A Gibbs
Anonymous Memorial 
Contributors (58)
Ms Stephanie Acraman
Mrs R M Andre
Mr Donald Beaurepaire
K & B Erfurth Pty Ltd
Mr D Fraser
Mr Leon Gorr
Ms Lisa Morgan Marshall
Mr Brendon Miller
Miss M O’Sullevan
Mr William Blake Shears
Mr C D Turnbull
Mr Harry Wilson

$1,000 - $1,999
Mr Howard W Paul
Blue Star Print
Mrs Patricia Lightfoot
Holy Cross Catholic Primary 
School
Geelong Grammar School
Orica Head Office Social Club
Mr Mark Dyson
Mr Matthew Hand
Mr Colin G Barraclough
Ms Elizabeth Russell
National Australia Bank
Mr Trevor O’Connell
Mr Paul Ferronato
Mr Doug Hornsey
Catherine Thomson
Professor Mark Cook
CitiPower Pty Ltd
Mr P Hansen
Mr Sam Miller
Ms Alexandra Stewart
Mr Jason Rajit
Mr Stephen Edwards
Mr Scott Hartley

Penny Thompson
Ms Kate Marshall
Ms Linda Barbour
Mrs Heather Greenwood
Dr Kevin Walsh
Mrs Abeer Al Jassim
Mr John Beaurepaire
Blue Label Pty Ltd
Mrs Ann Cole
Mrs Diane Collins
Mr Ian C Curry
Mr Mark Dewar
Estate of the late Lawrence 
Campbell Glover
Mrs Lynne Gallucci
Mr John Gilmour
Mrs Hart
Justin Herlihy
Mr Greg Howell
Mr Robert Kirby
Mr Ruslan Kogan
Dr James Lewis
Mr Darren Liversidge
Mr Shu Shiung Low
Mrs Diana M Lowe
Mr Edward J Miller
Mr Michael Naphtali
Dr Rose Perich
Mrs F Pinney
Ms Catherine Price
Mr Mark Pryn
Mrs D Richards
Mr Tony Roberts
Ms Juliana Ruzicka
Mr Barry Sechos
Mrs Susan Spence
Mr Richard J Stanley QC
Mrs Jade Baojue Tang
Ms Lucy Teo
Dr Bruce Verity
Dr Valerie Yule
$500 -$999
Rod Thomson

Mrs Marion Sheehan
Mr T Campbell Johnston
Mrs Lindy Muir
Mrs Joan Birmingham
Mr Daniel Charters
Mr J C Ellson
Mrs K Edwards
Mrs Sylvia Hammond
Segard Masurel (Aust) Pty Ltd
Mr Jack Ginnane
Sentdale Pty Ltd
Ms Corinne Young
Miss Patricia M Holmes
Mrs Joylene Donovan
Mrs Catherine Watson
Mrs Rose-Mary Cassin
Mr Mark Grave
Mrs Jacqueline M Harris
Mr Bill Pezzimenti
Mr & Mrs N & Lesley Wright
Miss Michelle Curtain
Australian Wool Network
Mr & Mrs Colin & Susan Harvey
Joanna Hulland
Mr Daryl Read
Ms Delphine Winton
Mrs G Eckersley
Mrs Anthea Fleming
Mr Brett O’Connell
Mr & Mrs T Pickford
Mrs Meredith Rogers
Mr Peter Price
Mrs Jane Martin
Miss Gwendoline Scott
Mr Adrian Turley
Kismet Park Primary School
Mrs Marion Beetham
Mrs M Dillon
Mrs Patricia Scott
Mrs Adeline Lim
Ms Emma Moore
Mr Geoff Blunt
Mr Leigh Bull
Mr John Colosimo

$20,000 +
Mr & Mrs Daryl & Anne 
Whinney

$10,000 - $19,999
Estate of Marjorie Mary 
Jackson
Bell Charitable Fund
Mr Graeme Shears
Ms H Fraser
Ms Nan Brown
Ms Ainslie Cummins
Joe White Bequest
Anonymous
Give Where You Live
The Marian & E H Flack Trust

$5,000 - $9,999
Steadfast Foundation Pty Ltd
Lord Mayor’s Charitable 
Foundation
Rotary Club of Brighton
Mr Greg Shalit & Ms Miriam 
Faine
Lincoln of Toorak
Mrs Kellie Clohessy
Mrs Phyllis Breen
Mr Hoang Vu

$2,000 - $4,999
Mr Joseph Azoulay
Mr Les Gawler
Mrs Tracey MacMillan
Estate of Joseph Lewis Welsh
Mrs Jean Ewing
Mr & Mrs M & S Edwards
The Shulu Foundation
Mr Don Sitlington
Mrs June Smith
Mr & Mrs R W & B L Squire
The Alfred & Jean Dickson 
Foundation
Mrs Angela Wood
Mr Michael L Yates
Mrs Catherine Vinot
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Mr & Mrs W & C Commins
Mr & Mrs David & Bridget 
Crisp
Mr David Ebert
Mr Jeff Edwards
Mr Chris Flynn
Mr John Furmedge
Mr Edward Haldane
Mr Graham Holmes
Mr Chris King
Mr Milton Lasnitzki
Mr Geoffrey Maddern
Mr P Marshall
Mr Peter Mason
Mr George Miller
Mrs Norma Minney
Mrs Pam Mould
Mr Brian Oldenburg
Mrs Megan Rankin
Mrs Wendell Rizzoli
Mrs Faye Roscoe
Mrs Pat Scally
Mr J Maxwell
Mr Mark Schwarz
Lyndal Keating
Mr Ross Charlesworth
Mr Greg Noonan
The Noel and Carmel O’Brien 
Family Foundation
Mrs Des & Dorothy Patton
Mr Graeme S Thomson
Mr Ross Ferrier
Mrs Louisa Bemelen
Mr Peter Bourke
Mr Brad Pearce
Ms Tasmin Brame
Mrs Rhona Morgan
Mr Ross Klinger
Mr Nicholas Aitken
Ms Cathy Almond
BearTrans Pty Ltd
BHP Billiton Matched Giving 
Program
Mr & Mrs Peter & Melissa 

Brown
Stephen Bryce
Mrs J Bucknell
Mrs A Cameron
Greg Cassar
Mr Bill Cherry
Mr Tin Chung
Miss Catherine Coghlan
Mrs Maureen L Crawford
Mrs Glenda Cusack
Mr Peter Demaine
Mr Sean Docker
Estate of Desmond Francis 
Gledhill
Mr Peter Foster
Dr Melvin Goh
Mrs Marion M Harper
Mrs Betsy Harrington
Mr Terry Harris
Mr John Hilton-Wood
Mrs Roberta L Holmes
Mr Joe Hopkins OAM
Prof. & Assoc Prof. Brian & 
Renate Howe
Mr Boi Tong Huynh
Mr Ian Jones
Mr John Kennedy
Mr Dennis Kim
Mrs Maryanne Kinchington
Mr BJ Lewis
Dr Maurice Lichter
Mr Gary Lord
Mrs Kylie Loynes
Mrs Carissa Macky
Magistrates Court of Victoria - 
Broadmeadows
Magistrates’ Court of Victoria 
- Melbourne
Mrs L M Mason
Mr & Mrs Ian & Gail McKay
Mrs Dorothy McLeod
Mr Paul Miall
Dr Charles Murphy
Mr Jonathan Mushin

Mrs Bev Newland
Mr Noam Olshina
Mr Nigel Peck AM
Mr Nigel Rendell
Dr Shane Richardson
Mr John Richardson
Mr Ken Riches
Mrs Judith Roach
Mr Alex Roth
Mrs Nel Sajet
Ms Margaret Saunders
Mr Antonius Mario Setiawan
Mr John Shalit
Mr Francis Shelton
Mr Peter Siminton
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Mrs Elizabeth Steven
Mrs Nancy Sturgess
Ms Emma Tamassy
Ms Felicity Teague
Ms V Teese
Mr Jonathan Tisher
Mr M J Tozer
Mr Dietmar Werner
Mrs Lyn Williams
Ms Averiel Wright
John Zelcer 

Ackowledgment of 
Contra Support
Print Impressions P/L
Apple Marketing Group
Stillwell Motor Group 
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Quealy Wines 
Elgee Park Wines
National Australia Bank
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Lincoln of Toorak
Grant Burton
Tricore Matrix
Lorne Hotel
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Portsea Polo
Paul Mitchell Hair
Eleven Hair
Jsala Candles
Melbourne Storm RLC
UCB Pharma
Riches family
Purple Day fundraisers & their 
supporters
Run Melbourne participants, 
fundraisers & their supporters

Thank you to our Epilepsy 
Ambassadors
Jeff ‘Joffa’ Corfe
Matt Duffie
Marion Clignet
Alice MacMillan
Epilepsy Foundation Patrons 
Council
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Board’s Report

The Board of The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated submits the Financial 
Statements on the incorporated association for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

BOARD MEMBERS
The following persons were Board Members during the whole of the financial year, unless otherwise stated:

Board

Date Appointed
Date of 

Cessation A B
Prof Mark Cook (Chair) 8 7
Dr Christine Walker 8 3
Mr Peter Gover 8 7
Dr Lindsay Vowels 8 5
Ms Sally Genser April-14 6 2
Mr Jim Campbell 8 8
Ms Corinne Young 8 6
Ms Victoria Funnell September-13 1 1
Ms Kate Marshall 8 6
Mr Joseph Azoulay September-13 7 7
Ms Lesley McMenamin April-14 2 2

A - Number of Meetings eligible during the year
B - Number of Meetings attended

CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated is an 
incorporated association, incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. 

The registered office of The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria 
Incorporated is located at 587 Canterbury Road Surrey Hills Vic 
3127.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria 
Incorporated during the financial year were to enhance the 
quality of life of people living with epilepsy through information, 
education, advocacy, support services and research.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES
No significant change in the nature of these activities 
occurred during the year.

OPERATING RESULT
The profit from ordinary activities for the year amounted to 
$6,860 (2013: Loss from ordinary activities of $40,281).

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The auditor’s independence declaration has been received for 
the year ended 30 June 2014 and can be found on page 8 of 
this Financial Report.
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Sub-Commiteee Membership 
And Meeting Attendance

Finance Audit & Risk Management 

A B

Subcommittee Members

Dr Christine Walker (Resigned February 2014) 2 2

Mr Peter Gover1 4 4

Mr Jim Campbell 4 4

Mr Joseph Azoulay 4 4

Ms Corinne Young (Joined February 2014) 2 2

Meeting Attendees

Mr Graeme Shears (Staff) 4 4

Mr Jeremy Maxwell (Staff) 4 4

Mr Wayne Pfeiffer (Staff) 4 3

Ms Helen Fraser (Staff) 4 4

Mr Jason Rajit (Staff) 4 4

Ms Bronwen Kohne (Staff) 2 2

A - Number of Meetings eligible 

B - Number of Meetings attended

1 Chair of Finance Audit and Risk Management Sub-committee

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board for and on behalf of the Board by:

Prof Mark Cook – Chairman  Mr. Peter Gover – Treasurer

Dated at Melbourne, Victoria: 2014
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Board And Chief Executive Officer 
DECLARATION

In the opinion of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer, the Financial Report, comprising the Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes 
in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and Notes to the Financial Statements:

1. Present a true and fair view of the financial position of The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated 
as at 30 June 2014 and its performance for the year ended on the date; and

2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that The Epilepsy Foundation of 
Victoria Incorporated will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

3. In addition, we are not aware at the date of signing this statement of any circumstances which would 
render any particulars included in the Financial Report to be misleading or inaccurate.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board and is signed by:

Prof Mark Cook – Chairman  

Mr. Peter Gover – Treasurer

Mr. Graeme Shears – Chief Executive Officer

Dated at Melbourne, Victoria: 2014
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Audiors Independant Declaration

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389  
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the 
context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm 
is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and 
are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its 
Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability is limited in those States where a current 
scheme applies. 
 
 

The Rialto, Level 30 
525 Collins St 
Melbourne Victoria  3000 
 
Correspondence to:  
GPO Box 4736 
Melbourne Victoria 3001 
 
T +61 3 8320 2222 
F +61 3 8320 2200 
E info.vic@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 
 
 
 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
To the Directors of The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated 
 
In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012, as lead auditor for the audit of The Epilepsy Foundation of 
Victoria Incorporated for the year ended 30 June 2014, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

 
 
 
 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 
 

B. A. Mackenzie 
Partner - Audit & Assurance 
 
Melbourne, 20 October 2014 
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Statement Of Profit Or Loss 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note
2014 

$
2013 

$

Revenue and Other Income
Fundraising

Donations 2 1,765,522  1,622,179 
Non Deductible Gifts 3 41,944  27,739 
Contributions 4 566,029  736,679 
Opportunity Shop Income 5 678,911  686,207 

Government Grants 1,185,843  1,261,432 
Interest Income 39,965  83,292 
Service Fees/ Education & Training 203,427  159,496 
Sundry Income 224,530  180,157 
Merchandise Income 6 45,714  17,484 

Total Revenue from Continuing Operations 4,751,886  4,774,665 

Administration Expenses 7 362,306  404,110 
Conference and Travel Expenses 34,868  27,861 
Depreciation 258,504  222,144 
Direct Raffle Expenses 369,729  429,274 
Direct Fundraising Expenses 369,614  459,112 
Direct Op Shop Expenses 161,678  168,574 
Profit/(Loss) on Sale of Fixed Assets 2,186  948 
Motor Vehicle Expenses 81,322  95,345 
Personnel Expenses 8 2,841,308  2,667,255 
Property Expenses 9 248,511  326,168 
Epilepsy Australia Contributions 15,000  14,696 

Total Expenditure from Continuing Operations 4,745,026  4,815,486 

Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year 6,860 (40,821)

Other Comprehensive Income
Movement in Available for sale financial assets 14,315  - 

Total Other Comprehensive Income for the Year 14,315  - 

Total Comprehensive Income/(Deficit) for the Year 21,175 (40,821)
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Statement Of Financial Position
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

Note
2014 

$
2013 

$

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash & Cash Equivalents 14  1,196,120  1,433,280 
Trade & Other Receivables 10  80,970  94,667 

Total Current Assets  1,277,090  1,527,947 

Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant & Equipment 11  4,773,165  4,941,368 
Available for Sale Financial Assets 12  345,315  - 

Total Non-Current Assets  5,118,480  4,941,368 

Total Assets  6,395,570  6,469,315 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Trade Creditors and Accruals 13  297,332  280,814 
Revenue Received in Advance  206,462  310,075 
Employee Entitlements 15  402,177  438,117 

Total Current Liabilities  905,971  1,029,006 

Non Current Liabilities
Employee Entitlements 15  97,148  69,033 

Total Non Current Liabilities  97,148  69,033 

Total Liabilities  1,003,119  1,098,039 

Net Assets  5,392,451  5,371,276 

Funds
Net Unrealised Gain Reserve  14,315  - 
Accumulated Surplus  5,378,136  5,371,276 

Total Funds  5,392,451  5,371,276 



53  |  epilepsy foundation | ANNUAL REPORT 2013 - 14

financial report 2013 - 14

Statement Of Changes In Funds
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Net Unrealised 
Gain Reserve

Accumulated 
Surplus

Total

Balance at 1 July 2012  -  5,412,097  5,412,097 
Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  - (40,821) (40,821) 

Balance at 30 June 2013  -  5,371,276  5,371,276 

Transfer to Net Unrealised Gain Reserve  14,315  -  14,315 
Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  -  6,860  6,860 

Balance at 30 June 2014  14,315  5,378,136  5,392,451
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Statement Of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note
2014 

$
2013 

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from:

Public/Customers  3,551,320  3,803,912 
Governement Grant  1,065,317  1,251,092 

Payments to Suppliers and Employees (4,461,129) (4,397,526)

Net Cash flows from operating activities 14 155,508 657,478

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment  66,230  6,019,756 
Interest Received  25,112  83,292 
Investment Income Received  5,707  - 
Purchase of Investments (331,000)  - 
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (158,717) (4,919,577)

Net Cash Flows from investing activities (392,668) 1,183,471

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
DrawDown/(Repayment) of Borrowings  - (734,856)

Net Cash Flows from financing activities  - (734,856)

Net increase(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (237,160) 1,106,093
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,433,280 327,187

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14 1,196,120 1,433,280
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Notes To The Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT  
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis Of Preparation

The financial report is a Tier 2 general purpose financial 
report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform 
Act 2012 (Vic), Australian Charities and Not-for-Profit 
Commission Act 2012, Australian Accounting Standards-
Reduced Disclosure Requirements and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board as discussed by the International Accounting 
Standards. The financial report also complies with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as  
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  
The financial report has also been prepared on a historical 
cost basis, except for investments, which have been 
measured at fair value. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest dollar. 

The preparation of the Financial Report requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgment in the process of 
applying The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated’s 
accounting policies.

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the Financial 
Statements are consistent with those of previous years, 
except where otherwise stated. Prior year figures have been 
adjusted, where appropriate, to ensure consistency with 
current year figures.

1.1 Adoption Of New And Revised Accounting Standards

A number of new and revised standards are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. These 
amendments have had no significant impact on the entity.

1.2 Property, Plant And Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation, unless otherwise stated. It is the 
policy of The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated to 
have an independent valuation of land and buildings when 
this is determined by the Board to be materially different to 
the stated value. The recoverable amount is assessed on the 
basis of the expected net cash flows which will be received 
from the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal. The 
expected net cash flows have not been discounted to present 
values in determining recoverable amounts.

Non-current assets (items over $1,000) are capitalised and 
depreciated to write off the cost or revalued amount of each 
item of plant and equipment, over its expected useful life to 

The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated.

Depreciation methods and rates used for each class of 
depreciable assets are:

Method Rate
Furniture & Equipment Straight Line 20%
Computer Equipment Straight Line 33%
Motor Vehicles Straight Line 20%
Leasehold Improvement Straight Line 7-20%
Building Straight Line 2%

Depreciation methods and rates of all non-current assets are 
reviewed on an annual basis. There was no change in the 
methodology used and rates for the 2014 financial year.

1.3 Employee Benefits

The calculation of employee entitlements includes all relevant 
on-costs and employee entitlements are calculated as follows 
at reporting date.

1.3.1 Wages And Salaries, Annual Leave And Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are 
recognised, and are measured as the amount unpaid at 
current pay rates in respect of employees’ services up to that 
date. Sick leave is non-vesting and a liability is recognised 
only when the amount of sick leave expected to be taken in 
future periods exceeds the entitlements expected to accrue in 
those periods.

1.3.2 Long Service Leave

A liability for long service leave is recognised and is measured 
as the present value of expected future payments (including 
on-costs) to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service.

Expected future payments are discounted using interest rates 
of national government guaranteed securities with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash flows. The nominal amount of long service leave 
expected to be paid in the next financial year is included as a 
current liability.

1.3.3 Superannuation

Superannuation Guarantee Levy amounts are paid on behalf 
of eligible employees. The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria 
Incorporated have no other commitments with respect to staff 
retirement benefits. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

1.4 Trade And Other Receivables

Trade receivables, which comprise amounts due from sales of 
merchandise and from services provided are recognized and 
carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts. Normal terms of settlement vary from 
seven to 30 days. The carrying amount of the receivable is 
deemed to reflect fair value. 

An allowance for doubtful debts is made based on a review 
of all outstanding amounts at reporting date. Bad debts are 
written off in the period in which they are identified.

1.5 Cash And Cash Equivalents

Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits are 
stated at nominal value. For the purpose of the Cash Flow 
Statement, cash includes cash on hand and cash equivalents, 
i.e. highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity, 
which are readily convertible to cash on hand at The Epilepsy 
Foundation of Victoria Incorporated’s option. Outstanding 
bank overdrafts when they arise are categorised as current 
liabilities.

1.6 Goods And Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except, where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Taxation 
Authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
an asset or as part of an item of expense. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Taxation Authority 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the Balance 
Sheet. The GST component of a receipt or payment is 
recognised on a gross basis in the Statement of Cash Flows 
in accordance with Accounting Standard AAS 28 Statement of 
Cash Flows.

1.7 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

(a)  Grant income is brought to account when The Epilepsy 
Foundation of Victoria Incorporated obtains control of 
the funds which is normally when the Entity receives 
the contribution or the right to receive the income. 
Where a repayment obligation exists with respect of 
unspent grant funds, grant income will be recognised 
in proportion to the related costs. If conditions are 
attached to a grant which must be satisfied before 
the Association is eligible to receive the contribution, 
recognition of the grant is deferred until those 
conditions are satisfied. The liability for deferred 
income is the unutilized amounts of grants received 

on the condition that specified services are delivered 
or conditions are fulfilled. The services are usually 
provided or the conditions usually fulfilled within twelve 
months of receipt of the grant.

(b)  Bequests, donations and trading revenue are 
recognised as revenue on receipt or delivery.

(c)  Membership fees and other income are recognised as 
revenue upon the rendering of an invoice. 

(d)  Interest and rent is brought to account on a time 
proportionate basis.

(e)  No amounts are included in the financial statements for 
services donated by volunteers, or donated goods.

1.8 Tax

The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated, as a 
registered charitable organization, is exempt from income tax 
under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

1.9 Leases

Leases of plant and equipment where substantially all the 
risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but 
not the legal ownership, are transferred in the Association are 
classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a 
liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of 
the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease 
payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease 
liability and the lease interest expense for the period.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all 
the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as 
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a 
liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the lease term.
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1.10 Investments

(a) Classification and subsequent measurement

Investments are classified as available-for-sale investments 
in terms of AASB 139 Financial Instruments. Available-
for-Sale financial investments are non-derivative financial 
assets such as primarily equity and debt securities, which 
either do not have a maturity date or whose maturity date is 
so far in the future that is unlikely that the association will 
hold the investment to maturity. Available-for-Sale financial 
investments are measured at fair value. The fair value of 
investments that are actively traded in organized financial 
markers is determined by reference to quoted prices at the 
close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments 
with no active market, fair value is determined using standard 
valuation techniques.

Unrealised gains and losses are recognized directly in 
reserves until the investment is derecognized or until the 
investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the 
cumulative gain or loss previously reported in reserves is 
recognized in surplus or deficit in the statement of profit and 
loss. 

(b) Impairment of financial assets

The Association assesses at each balance sheet date whether 
a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. If 
there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale financial 
investment is impaired, an amount comprising the difference 
between its costs and its current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognized in surplus or deficit, is 
transferred from reserves to the statement of profit and loss. 
Subsequent reversal of impairment loses are not recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income but are recognised directly in reserves until the 
investment is derecognized.

1.11 Reserves

Other components of equity include Net Unrealised Gain 
Reserve which comprises gains and losses relating to 
investments.

1.12 Critical Accounting Estimates And Judgements

The board members evaluate estimates and judgments 
incorporated into the financial statements based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates 
assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are 
based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the Association. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.
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2014 
$

2013 
$

NOTE 2: DONATIONS
Appeals 426,109 440,193
Bequests 27,933 162,315
Community Groups 3,876 17,136
Doorknock 749,315 626,578
General 216,814 215,741
In Memoriam 9,906 26,082
On-line Portal 137,359 71,958
Raffle 32,941 44,797
Trusts and Restricted Donations 161,269 17,379

1,765,522 1,622,179

NOTE 3: NON-DEDUCTIBLE GIFTS
Community Fundraising 41,944 27,739

41,944 27,739

NOTE 4: FUNDRAISING CONTRIBUTIONS
Events 6,898 21,235
Membership 5,370 5,696
Raffles 548,761 689,748
Sponsorship 5,000 20,000

566,029 736,679

Less Allocated Costs (546,011) (615,809)
Gross Surplus from Fundraising Contributions 20,018 120,870

NOTE 5: OPPORTUNITY SHOP INCOME
Opportunity Shops 678,911 686,207

678,911 686,207

Less Allocated Costs (323,276) (330,888)
Gross Surplus from Fundraising Trading 355,635 355,319

NOTE 6: MERCHANDISE INCOME
Sales – Non Charitable Goods 1,339 1,811
Sales – Charitable Goods 44,375 15,673

45,714 17,484
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2014 
$

2013 
$

NOTE 7: ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
Advertising 28,827 9,525
Bad Debts 5,735 (2,564)
Bank Charges 6,625 5,469
Computer Related Expenses 110,894 121,502
Postage 10,675 16,692
Photocopying, Printing and Stationery 46,210 73,661
Sundry 115,491 139,807
Telephone 37,849 40,019

362,306 404,110

NOTE 8: PERSONNEL EXPENSES
Salaries 2,436,955 2,228,476
Long Service Leave 53,477 110,070
Consultants’ Fees 107,921 116,376
Superannuation 221,994 190,383
WorkCover 20,007 19,375
Other Personnel Expenses 954 2,575

2,841,308 2,667,255

NOTE 9: PROPERTY EXPENSES
Cleaning 22,193 21,868
Power and Light 18,025 31,220
Security/Fire Monitoring 5,124 6,619
Rates 5,915 3,154
Rental 167,020 188,345
Equipment Hire 7,067 7,890
Repairs and Maintenance 18,265 12,327
Insurance 4,901 4,992
Relocation Costs - 49,753

248,511 326,168

NOTE 10: RECEIVABLES
Trade Debtors 35,219 34,558
Provision for Doubtful Debts (4,844) (1,590)

30,375 32,968
Prepayments 14,356 28,870
Sundry Debtors 36,239 32,829

80,970 94,667
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NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Land and 
Buildings

Computer 
Equipment

Furniture 
and 

Equipment

Motor 
Vehicle

Total

Cost 
At 1 July 2012  -  519,266  316,193  404,708  1,240,167 
Additions  4,524,307  78,185  35,075  282,010  4,919,577 
Disposals  - (310,931) (241,773) (190,893) (743,597) 

At 30 June 2013  4,524,307  286,520  109,495  495,825  5,416,147 
Additions  19,092  48,833  2,030  88,763  158,718 
Disposals  - (91,670)  - (123,834) (215,504) 

At 30 June 2014  4,543,399  243,683  111,525  460,754  5,359,361 

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 July 2012  -  463,940  274,990  131,598  870,528 
Charge for Year  60,342  48,533  25,210  88,059  222,144 
Disposals  - (310,930) (240,530) (66,433) (617,893) 

At 30 June 2013  60,342  201,543  59,670  153,224  474,779 
Charge for Year  107,114  47,111  15,629  88,650  258,504 
Disposals  - (91,670)  - (55,417) (147,087) 

At 30 June 2014  167,456  156,984  75,299  186,457  586,196 

Net Carrying Amount
At 30 June 2013  4,463,965  84,977  49,825  342,601  4,941,368 
At 30 June 2014  4,375,943  86,699  36,226  274,297  4,773,165

On the 17 July 2012 The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated entered into a purchase agreement 
for a new office building at 587 Canterbury Road, Surrey Hills for gross consideration of $4.0 Million. 
Settlement occurred on 17 September 2012. 

NOTE 12: AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Note
2014 

$
2013 

$
Available for sale investments
Listed Debt Securities 345,315 -

345,315 -

These assets are stated at fair value. The hybrid securities are denominated in AUD and are publicly 
traded in Australia. See note 1.10 for a description of the accounting policy.
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2014 
$

2013 
$

NOTE 13: TRADE CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS
Trade Creditors 216,296 190,277
Other Creditors 57,147 43,465
Accruals and deferred Income 23,889 47,072

297,332 280,814

NOTE 14: CASH FLOWS
(a)  Cash at Bank 845,270 1,032,331
 Cash on Hand 850 949
 Term Deposit 350,000 400,000
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,196,120 1,433,280

(b)   Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income (Deficit) to Net Cash Inflow (Outflow)  
From Operating Activities:

 Operating Result Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year 6,860 (40,821)
 Depreciation and Amortisation 258,504 222,144
 Loss on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 2,186 948
 Investment Income Received (5,707) -
 Interest Received (25,112) (83,292)

 Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities
 Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables (817) 102,435
 Decrease/(Increase) in Other Assets 14,514 -
 Increase/(Decrease) in Payables 36,672 95,828
 Increase/(Decrease) in Revenue in Advance (103,613) 256,154
 Increase (Decrease) in Employee Provisions (27,979) 104,082

 Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) From Operating Activities 155,508 657,478

NOTE 15: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Annual Leave 193,447 221,457
Long Service Leave 305,877 285,693

499,324 507,150
Current Liabilities
Annual Leave 193,447 221,457
Long Service Leave 208,729 216,660

402,176 438,117
Non-current Liabilities
Long Service Leave 97,148 69,033

97,148 69,033
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NOTE 16: COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
As at 30 June 2014, The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated had no outstanding capital 
commitments (2013 nil).

NOTE 17: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2014, The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated had no contingent liabilities  
(2013 nil).

NOTE 18: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

For Auditing of the Financial Statements:
Current Year 12,500 12,500
For Other Services - -

12,500 12,500

NOTE 19: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)  Directors Remuneration

  There was no remuneration received or due and receivable from The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria 
Incorporated in connection with the management of The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated 
(2013 nil). 

(b) Other Transactions:

  The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated entered into other transactions, which are 
insignificant in amount, with Directors in their domestic dealings within normal customer terms  
and conditions not more favourable than those available in similar arms length dealings.

NOTE 20: ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE
A significant portion of funding for The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated is obtained from 
agencies of the Victorian Government and public donations.

NOTE 21: KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION
There were 5 key management personnel (2013: 4) that have authority for planning, directing and 
controlling the association’s activities, directly or indirectly (other than directors).

The key management personnel compensation included within employee benefits expense is:

2014 
$

2013 
$

Key Management Compensation 720,610 595,871
720,610 595,871
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NOTE 22: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Association’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market 
instruments, short-term investments, trade receivables and trade payables.

The Association does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2014 (2013: nil).

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management
Financial Risks

The main risks the Association is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk and credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

The Association’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates is minimal as it relates primarily to 
the Association’s at call deposits as well as listed debt securities. The Association does not currently have 
any interest bearing liabilities. Cash not required for working capital purposes is deposited into a term 
deposit account.

Liquidity Risk

The Association manages liquidity risk by monitoring cash flows and ensuring that adequate cash 
balances are maintained.

Credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or security, at reporting date 
for recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those 
assets, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and Notes to the Financial Statements.

There are no amounts of collateral held as security at reporting date.

At reporting date, the Association does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable 
or group of receivables under financial instruments entered into by the Association.

NOTE 23: OPERATING LEASES

2014 
$

2013 
$

Non-cancellable Operating Leases rental payable as follows

Within one year 107,175 110,059
Between one and five years 57,153 82,491
More Than Five Years - -

164,328 192,550

The entity leases property under operating leases expiring from one to five years. Leases generally 
provide the entity with a right of renewal at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are 
generally increased every year to reflect market rentals or the terms of the lease. 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2014, $152,147 was recognised as an expense in the 
statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in respect of operating leases (2013: 
$170,934).

NOTE 24: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred post balance date.
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Top Ten Tips
FOR LIVING WITH EPILEPSY

1. Take your medication as prescribed as this controls 
seizures in most people. Forgetting a dose, changing the 
time you take medication or using a different brand can 
trigger a seizure. 

2. Learn more about your condition from reliable sources 
such as your doctor, pharmacist, the Epilepsy Foundation 
or other health care professionals. Gather as much 
information as you can to understand the type of 
seizures you have, to enable you to manage your 
epilepsy better and educate those around you about your 
condition.

3. Know your triggers and try to manage them – for 
example missed medication, illness and fever, stress, 
lack of sleep, menstruation, extremes or changes in 
temperature (especially hot weather) or flickering light 
can be triggers for some people. 

4. Keep a seizure diary – as you may not be aware when 
you are having a seizure or remember that one occurred, 
ask someone to write a detailed description each time 
you have a seizure and keep the date, time and what 
happened before, during and after the seizure. Take it to 
each doctor’s appointment to help your doctor assess 
the effectiveness of your treatment.

5. Have a healthy, balanced lifestyle – people living with 
epilepsy can do a lot to help themselves with good 
self-management, so avoid getting overtired or stressed, 
having too much alcohol, taking illegal drugs, exercising 
excessively or becoming dehydrated. Moderate exercise, 
yoga, meditation, music or time relaxing with friends can 
be helpful.

6. Have a ‘Seizure Management Plan’ so that your family, 
friends, work or school know what to do if you have 
a seizure. This will help others understand what is 
happening so they can help you appropriately.

7. See a specialist to get the best treatment for your 
condition. Your doctor may refer you to a pediatrician, 
neurologist or epileptologist who will look at your 
symptoms, order tests, prescribe the best medication for 
your type of seizure and provide reviews. 

8. Manage your risks – take special care around fire, 
water, heights, operating machinery and driving. Vic 
Roads has strict rules about the length of time you need 
to be seizure-free before being allowed to drive and 
your doctor must complete a medical report. See www.
vicroads.vic.gov.au/Home/Licensing/MedicalConditions/
Epilepsy.

9. If travelling overseas check that any medications are 
legal in the countries you are visiting. Take a letter 
from your doctor detailing your diagnosis, the name of 
the medication, how much you will be taking and that 
it is for your own personal use, along with a copy of 
the prescriptions. Keep the medication in its original 
packaging. Make sure you have enough prescriptions 
to cover the time you are away from home. For further 
information, download a copy of the brochure Travelling 
Well from smartraveller.gov.au/tips/travelwell.

10. Get some support if you need it. Most people with 
epilepsy lead full and happy lives but sometimes you 
or your family might need support, information or just 
someone to talk to. Each State and Territory in Australia 
has an epilepsy support agency. Contact 1300 852 853 
or visit www.epinet.org.au.

For further information contact
Epilepsy Foundation on (03) 8809 0600 

Epilepsy Helpline on 1300 852 853 for the cost of a local call, or visit www.epinet.org.au
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Seizure First Aid

What to do:
• The general rule for all seizures is to remain calm.

• Note the time the seizure starts and how long it lasts.

•  Protect (rather than restrain) the person from injury.

•  Roll the person onto their side (coma position) if they have fallen 
and establish supportive communication as the seizure ends.

• Check for injuries and stay with the person until they are 
sufficiently recovered to take charge again.

When to call an ambulance:
•  When the seizure activity itself lasts 5 or more minutes 

• When the person has lost consciousness for 5 minutes or more.

•  If another seizure starts shortly after the first one finishes.

•  Where the person has sustained an injury.

•  Where you know, or believe it to be, the person’s first seizure.

•  If the seizure has occurred in water.

•  If you know the person has diabetes or is pregnant.

Additional information:
•  Most prolonged seizures cease within 5 minutes of intramuscular 

midazolam administration.

•  The Epilepsy Foundation can assist with creating an action plan 
for someone with epilepsy and provide training for emergency 
management of seizures.

•  Ambulance membership may be beneficial to avoid unnecessary 
costs of ambulance services.

 
For further information contact the 
Epilepsy Helpline on 1300 852 853.

What to do when someone has a seizure depends on the kind of 
seizure they are having.



© Epilepsy Foundation 2014

Epilepsy Foundation 
587 Canterbury Road 
Surrey Hills Victoria 3127 
t: (03) 8809 0600 
f: (03) 9836 2124 
www.epinet.org.au


